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CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

This thesis 1s an interpretation of the relation-
ship that existed between Voltaire, the philosopher,
and Frederick the Great of Prussia, the philosopher king,
two of the greatest men of the elghteenth century. Except
for background material, the study has bsen made from
the correspondence that passed between the two men and
from letters which they wrote to or received from third
parties which throw some light on their relationship,
Their correspondence was voluminous, In some years almost
a hundred letters passed between the two men, Fortunately
for the study of Voltalre, almost all the letters he
wrote or received have been preserved, His collected
ecorrespondence contains all the known letters he wrote
to Prederick and all the letters that he received from
Frederick,

Unfortunately many of the letters no longer exist
in their original form. Some exist only as coples, some
only in earller and incomplete editions of Voltairets
letters, Practicslly all of the letters that have been
copied or printed have been edited. Spelling and punce-
tuation have often been modernized. This accounts for

the diversity that is found in the quotations fram the



Yet, even with this drawback, it is hoped that this study
will throw some light on this period in the lives of
two of the most important men of thelr time,



CHAPTER II
THE LIFE OF VOLTAIRE

Voltaire, the greatest French philosopher, dramatist,
and historian of the eighteenth century, was born in
Paris on November 21, 1694, and was the next day baptized
Prangois Marlie Aroust. BREarly in his career he changed
this name to Voltaire, He came of high bourgeols parentage.
His father was a lawyer, a man of considerable property,
with contacts at court, for he numbered members of the
nobility among his clients,

The boy received a good esducation at the Jesult
e0lleége, Louis-le~Grand., At this time the Jesuits were
by far the best educators in France. The staff of this
0011550 streassed literature, so the very precocious boy
received valuable treining in the field for which he
early showed a natural aptitude,

His father wanted him to study law, Young Voltaire
had no desire to devote himself to the exacting and dull
routine life of the legal profession, However, in order
to plesse his father, or probably for finanoial reasons,
he did consent for a short time to study law, but even
at this time drama and writing verses were his chief
pursuit and interest. However, the time spent in the

study of law was not frultless in Voltaire's later life.



The knowledge of courtroom procedures and law that he
had acquired during this time he later put to practieal
use, It was of great help to him in the numerous legal
battles he had throughout his life and in the many legal
transaetions he had in acquiring his vast fortune,

It was through a high official of the chureh,
the Abbe de Chateauneuf, a close friend of the Arouet
family, that Voltaire made his first important contaect
with a eclever and influential literary group, This free-
thinking ecclesiastie introduced him to the society of
the Pemple, centered around Philippe de Vendome. This
was & circle of clever and distinguished, but somewhat
debauched, literary men, given to drinking bouts and
witty scoffing at the seeming failings of ehurech and
atato.z Voltaire's association with this group 4id mueh
to develop his literary ability and that keen satire
and biting wit which characterized his writings and did
8o much to make him such a witty and provocative son-
versationallst,

Voltalire began his literary career while under
the infliuence of the Temple members, He wrote his firat
drama, OEdlpe, read it to themj; and, with their help

ZG.orgo R. Havens, The Age of Ideas (New York:
Henry Holt and Company, 1955), pPe 1596



and eritieism, then corrected it, However, he did not
make 1t publiec at this tine,

Voltaire early showed his ability to ridicule
others with his pen, This naturally soon got him into
trouble., He was sent to the Bastille, but relessed after
a short imprisomment., While in prison, he reeast OEdipe,
and 1t was produced for the first time November 18, 1718,
at the Théfitre Prangais, It was a success, It ran for
forty~five nights and brought young Voltaire both fame
and considersble money, But his literary fame was not
enough to keep him out of trouble. In 1725, after he
had offended the Chevalier de Rohan=Chabot, he was
ignominiously beaten by the chevalier's hirelings and
again ssnt to the Bastille, Thias time he was kept in
priscn only two weeks, then was allowed his freedom on
the condition that he leave the country and go to England,

It was a fortunate escape for Voltaire. He had
already made a name for himself in the literary world
with OEdipe and other works. Beside this, his clever
wit was enough to make him a welcome guest at any cultured
and literary gathering, In England, Lord Bolinbroke,
both Walpoles, and Alexander Pope were his friends,
Young Queen Caroline, the wife of George II, weleomed
and admired him, The three years that Voltaire spent
in England were of inestimable value in his development,



It was the English political and soeial views, the demo~
oeratic English institutions, and the marked freedom from
. the rigid and arbitrary French political restrictions
that made a lasting imprint on his philosophy of 1life
and his political views, And, since he had a keen eye
for profit, the prosperity of England's manufacturing
and commerce did not escspe his sharp and inguiring eyes.
Three years latsr he returned to Franse where,
largely through the influence of madame de FPompadour,
he enjoyed a short period of popularity at the court.
With Louis XV he was never popular, During this period
he wrote a great deal and produced several plays with
marked success. The Henriade, which had already appeared
in England, was allowed publication in France.
His popularity was short-lived, In 1733 he had
published his Lettres philosophiques sur les Anglais,

whieh by praising the free English institutions was an
indirect eritiocism of both ehurch and state in France.,

The book was condemned, all eoples found were seimed

and burned, and a warrant was 1ssued for Voltaire's arrest,
Fortunately he was in the independent duchy of Lorraine.
That same year he had taken up his residence with madame
du Chitelet at her chfiteau at Cirey. For seventeen years
she was his friend, mistress, and literary collaborator,

In her home he had a safe and comforteble retreat and



had excellent opportunity and leisure for his literary
work, In 1735 the ban sgainst him was removed, and he

was allowed to return to Paris. However, he seldom availed
himself of the privilege and never remained there long.

It wasg during this time thet his correspondence with
Frederick, then the crown prince of Prussia, began,

Madame du Chitelet's death in 1749 left Voltaire
disconsoclate, To remain at Cirey was impossible. In
Paris he was hardly weloome, for the king hated, feared,
and distrusted him., To remain in Paris for any length
of time was dangerous, It was then that he decided to
accept the often repeated invitation of Frederick, now
king of Prussia, to come a2 a permanent guest to Berlin,
where he had twice visited briefly, When Voltaire arrived
in Berlin in July of 1750 he was weleomaed royally, For
& short tims everything went amoothly., But Frederick
was toc autocratie and Voltaire too outspoken and inde-~
penderit for the two men to remaln friends long in sueh
& close assoclation, Voltalre's stay in Berlin did rot
last three yesers, When he left, ths two men were hoth
bitter and diasillusioned with sach other,

Agalin Voltalire was quite at a loss to find a refuge,
He was even refused perm!ission to enter France; however,
in reality this meant Paris. Voltaire traveled about

in the provinces fcr some time after he left Berlin,



In 1754 he bought a country home just outside the gates
of Genevn which he named Lea Délices, Four years later,
~ bscause the rigid Swiss objeocted to his theatrical per-
formances, he moved again, This time he bought an estate
at FParney, only four miles from Geneva, but just across
the border on French soil, Here he lived, wrote, and
entertained the great of the world for the next twenty
years,

In 1778 popular demand for his appearanée in Paris
was 80 grest that Louls XVI allowed him to come back,
His latest drams, Iréne, was produsced, Honors were
showered unon him from all sides except that of the sourt,
The sxertion and all the excitement were too mush for
Voltalire, now a frail, old man, He died in Paris May
3C, 1778,



In 1754 he bought & country home just outside the gates
of Geneves which he named Les Délices, Four years later,
because the rigid Swiss objeoted to his theatrical per-
formances, he moved again, This time he bought an estate
at Famsy, only four miles from Geneva, but just across
the border on French soil, Here he lived, wrote, and
entertained the great of the world for the next twenty
yeaTrs,

In 1778 popular demand for his appearance in Paris
was 80 great that Louis XVI allowed him to come back,
Fls latest drama, Iréne, was prodused., Honors were
showered unon him from all sides except that of the sourt,
The sxertion and all the excitement wers too mush for
Voltaire, now & frail, old man, He died in Paris May
36, 1778,



CHAPTER III
THE LIFE OF FREDERICK THE GREAT

Frederick the Great was born in Berlin on January
24, 1712, the oldest son of Frederick William I, king
of Prussia, The title of king was still quite new in
his family., His grandfather, Frederiek I, had held only
the title of ;1eetor of Brandenburg until January of
1701, Qhan he gained the sanction of the emperor, Leopold I,
to take the title of king of Prussia,

Frederick William I, the father of Frederick the
Great, was a man wholly lacking in any appreciation of
the finer cultural things of life, such as musie, art,
and literature, He was harsh, tyrannical, and arbitrary,
both as a king and as a family man, He could not under-
stand or appreciate his cultured, sensitive wife, Sophia
Dorothea of Hanover, the sister of George II of England,
Thelir 1life together was not hamonious, Still Prederick
William was not without virtues. He was honest, efficient,
industrious, and saving to the point of being parsimonious,
He was a very capable administrator and during his reign
he greatly improved the economy and general standard of
living in Prussia, He was far ahead of other European

eountries, even England, in establishing a system of
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elementary schools for the common people and making attend-
ance compulsary.

Young Frederick received a good educstion; and
strangely enough, it was all French, At this time the
influence of Louis XIV had spread to all the courts of
Europe, and French was their langusge. To Frederick
William, who was ambitious for his son and heir, 1t was
more important that the son should be well educated in
Frenoh than that he should apeak his mother tongue, German,
fluently. Frederick William despised French culture and

literature, the Enlightemment was a bete noire to him,

but he did accept the supremacy of ths French langusge,.
The boy was taught Prench from his earliest childhood,
All his tutors were French, most of thsm refugees from
the French court, The study of any other language, above
all, that of Latin, was strictly forbidden by his father.
Young Fraderick's literary education then was
wholly French, He knew no Latin so he eould not have
had any acquaintance with the great Latin e¢lassics,
The beauty of all classical Greek was & closed book to
him, Engiish literature had already reached its highest
peak in Shakespeare, but Frederick could not read English,
He could read German, but he saw no possibillities in
it as a litersry language, And, during his youth, there
was very little that eould be ¢alled great in German



literature, Most of what passed for literary German
during the first half of the eighteenth eentury was simply
a servile imitation of Frenoch stylists, Lessing, the
first great German literary glant, was born in 1729,
Goethe in 1749, and Sehiller not until 1759, Compared
with that of England and Prance ths flowering of German
literature came lete, too late for Frederick the Great,

Since French literature was the only one he knew
and since Voltalre was the most important literary figure
of his age, 1t is not at all surprising that young
Frederick showed an inordinate appreciation for French
literature and an almost idolatrous worship of Voltalire,
Voltaire's writings were supreme in his view,

Nor was Frederick content simply to be a passive
admirer of French literature, He wanted to be a oreator
as welle As a youth he had shown marked talent both
in musie and literary eomposition., He had grest ambition
for shining as a creator in both flelds, During his
busy adult life of making wars and political intrigue
he sometimes had to negleet this ambition, but he never
gave 1t up entirely. With his French literary education
and his marked admiration for Voltaire's writings 1i¢
is not surprising that the young prince wanted to make

the aecquaintance of Voltairs,
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Frederick's Prench edusation explains his leaning
toward French literature and toward Voltaire. There is
atill another experience, a more tragie one, that may,
in a way, explain Frederick!s sharacter, As a boy
Frederick had been sensitive, refined, and very fond
of music and literature, His love for musio and litera-
ture remained with him all his life, but one can find
no trace of the sensitive, tender boy in the harsh,
eritical, and sometimes brutal man that Frederick became.
The answer may lie in the traglec story of his attempted
escape, In 1730, when Frederick was eighteen, his father'!s
autooratiec brutality became unendurable, With the aid
of two friends, Kieth and Katte, he decided to try teo
escape to the eourt of his uncle, George II, king of
England, The plot was diseovered, Kieth managed to
escape, but the prinee and Katte were caught. The king's
angar was terrible, At first he wanted to condemn both
to death, Upon the intercession of other German princes,
he changed the sentence to impriasomment for Prederick,
But XKatte was condemned to death, and Frederick was forced
to watch the execution of his triond.3 When the prince

recovered from the bitter shock some of ths mildness

3Thomas B. Macaulay, Frederick the Great (New
York: Houghton Mifflin and €., 1895), DDe 32=3le



ssemad to have disappeared from his character, while
Prederiock nevsr did develop into the churlish, uncouth,
and brutal sutosrat his fathsr had bsen, when he did
have the freedom to devslop, he boocame more like his
father than one would have axpeeted from his yocuth,

The prinee was released from prison in 1733 and
foreed to marry the Princess Elizabeth Christina of
Brunsw!lckeBevern, a woman of his fathar's cholce.,
Prederick eonsented to the marriage although it weas dis-
tasteful to him, His relations to his father had changed,
He now showed an outward deference for the king's wishea,

Thes king gave Frederick the castle of Sohonhausen
and the town of Rheinsburg, Here Frederick lived for
the next six years, until he became king. Dur ng these
81x years he was free to devote himself to his beloved
musie erd books, He also showed a growing interest in
military affairs amd i{n the politieal world, It was
during this time that he baegan his voluminous eorrespondence
with Voltalre.

Frederick beeame king of Prussia upon the death
of tda fether in 1740. As a youth 2nd even as & young
man, he had exvressed liberal ideas both in govermment
and religion, He scemed to be a true diseciple of the
Enlighterment, After h»2 heeame king, he shanged, He
was hardly in office a month before he began his plans



against the bishop of Lisge. He had become king in June,
In NDecemboer he broke the Pragmatio Sanction, which pro=-
tected Austria, turncd agninst Maria Theresa, and took
£ilesia. Then when othar Germen powers and even France,
also esger for spolls from the sprawling Austrian empire,
Joined him, he droke his alliance with them as soon as
he saw that 1t would be to his advantage,

In 1757 he started the Seven Years! War, Here
his conduct was mors excusable, for he was really only
antielpating the attack that France end Austrie, together
with the smaller Corman states, were planning against
him, With Russia and Austria he took an active part Iin
the three partiticns of Poland., Inm short, the prinece,
who had esdvocated peaco, wes engsged 1n wars of conquest
during much of his fortyesix years as king of Prusela.

On the other hend, Prederick worked herd for the
economi® well=being and developmert of his psoples He
allowed ecmplete freedom of religilon, speseoh, and the
press, PBut he was an absolute monarech, did nothing at
21l to develop selfegoverrment in Prussia, and sarried
on hie fether's program in meking Prussie an econcrmically
progressivs, efficlent, auvtocratic, ard militeristie
gtate,

He wes very much interested in literature and

drama, but he did nothing to further the development

15



of Germman literature, Lessing was making his important
eontribution to German literature during the sesond half
of Prederickt!s reign, but the king could sse nothing of
value in him, and even refused him the post of librarian
at Berlin, To Frederick, Prench was the only language
worth considering in literature,

Hls character is somewhat of an enigma, He was
autoeratie and yet sometimes he was frank and liberal,
He surrounded himself with a court of brilliant men for
whom he sometimes showed marked respect, but at other
times he humiliated with his outting wit, He deplored
dishonesty 1n others, dBut he himself was flagrantly die=-
honest, both in his public and his private dealings.
Exocept for his mother and sisters, notably Wilhelmina,
he hated women, His marrisge was one of convenience
only. After he became king, his wife appeared with him
only on state cccasions; otherwise they lived apart,

He treated her with cool respect, when they met, at other

times he ignored her, They had no e¢hildren,

When he died in 1786, he had done much to increase
the power, the economie development, and the area of
Prussia, He had made it a power to be reckoned with,
and had also done much to further the race for military

supremacy in Europe,

16



CHAPTER IV
CORRESPONDENCE FROM 1736 TO 1750

It was the prince who sought the philosopher,
Since his wedding young Frederick had been master of
his own house at Rheinsburg, For the first time in his
life he had been free to study and read, not only as
mueh as he wanted, but whatever he wanted. He threw
himself into the study of French literature with all
the zest and drive of his energetic nature, It was during
this time that he made the acquaintance of Voltaire's
works and became his ardent admirer,

Frederiek's first letter, dated August 8, 1736,
expreased his admiration and appreciation for Voltaire,
i

Monsieur, quoique je ntaie pas le satisfaction
de vous oonnaf{tre personellement, vous ne m'en Stes
pas moins sonnu par vos ouvrages. Ce sont des tresors
d'esprit, si 1'on peut l'cxsrimor ainsi, et des pleces
travaillees avec tan{ de goit, de delicatesse et
dtart, que les boautol en paraissent nouveiles &
chaque fols qu'on les relit, Je crois y avoir recomnu
le earaotoro de leur ingenieux auteur, qui fait honneur
& notre siecle et & 1'esprit humain,

The letter opena:

l‘9_9_. eit., vol, 5, p. 212, Hereafter, the volume
and page of Voltaire's Correspondence will be indicated
in parentheses in the body of the thesis, All references
are from the Besterman edition,
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In the same letter Frederick praised the Henriade, César,

and Alzire, He asked Voltaire to send him all of his
works, not only his published books and dramas, but also
anything that he might consider too dangerous to publish:

S1 parmi les manuseri{s 1l y en a quelqu'un que
par une eirconspection nesessaire vous trouvies a
propos de eéasher aux yeus du pudblie, Je vous promets
de le conserver dans le sein du secret et de me
contenter d'y applaudir dans mon partisulier
(Correspondence, vol, 5, p. 213),

This letter was the beginning of a voluminous corresponde
endes,
Voltaire replied within the month, His pride
was gratified by this notiece from the prince, even though,
at this time, Prederieck was only the heir to the Prussian
throne and had not yet had a chancse to make & name for
himseif, He praised Frederiock far above his due. Thus
began that mutual exohange of admiration and eulogy,
that at times reached quite ridieculous heights. He opened
the letter with these lines:
JMonseigneur, 11 faudrnit.otro insensible pour
n'étre pas infiniment touohe de la lettre don§ Vea.rs
a daigne m'honorer. Mon amour propre en a ate trop
flatte; mais l'amour du genre humain, que j'al eu
toujours dans le eogur et qui, j'ose dire, fait mon
caractére, m'a donné un plaisir mille fois plus pur,
quand j'al vu qu'il y a dans le monde un prince qui

pense en homme, un prinee philosophe qui rendra les
hommes heureux (Correspondense, vol, 5, pe 231)e

Such praise was rather extreme when one c¢onsiders that

at this time Voltaire probably knew nothing about the
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character of the young princs cutside of his literary
leanings,

The next recorded lettsr is in the form of a long
posm by Voltaire to the prince. 1In this posm he likened
Frederick to Mareus Aurelius and Julius Caesar, Frederiock
replied with a long letter, dated November L, 1736,

After the opening paragraph he wrote:
Voue faites, monsieur, dans votre lettrs le portrait
du prince aeoompli, auquel je ne me reconnals pcint
e « » o Je me proposeral ee portrait pour mcddle, ot
Jeo feral tous mes efforts pour me rendre le digne

diseiple d'un maftre qui sait si divinement enseigner
(Correspondensce, vole 5, PP. 296=97).

In this same letter Frederick expressed his surpricze
that Voltaire was not recelving the honor due him in
his own land, He wrote:

Je ne puls revenir de mgn stonnement quand je
pense gqu'une natign cultivee pay les beaux-arts,
secondee par le genle et par l'emulation d'une nation
volaine; quard Jo penge, dis=~je, que cette mcm, nation
si polie et 51 eoclairee ne connaft point ie tresor
qu'elle renferme dans son sein. Quoil ee méme
Voltaire & qui nos mains erigent des autels et des
statues est neglige dans sa patrie, et vit en solitaire
dans le fopd de la Champagnel C'est un paradoxe,
6'est une enigme, 6'est un effet bizarre do caprice
des liommes (Correspcndence, vole 5, p. 298}

He also made his first mention of madame du Chitelet,
He wrote that he respested the ties of friendship toe
mueh to "vouloir vous arracher des bras A'Emille"

(Correspondense, vole 5, p. 302},




[a\]

Voltaire replisd oxn Jenuary 1, 1737. He began
by writing that hae had wept tears of Joy upon reading
Frederick!a last lstter, In this letter he expresscd
suparlative praiss of the young prince. XHs wrote!

Vous pensez comne Trajan, vous &crives eopme Pline,
et vous parles frangais oomme les meilleurs ecrivains,
Quelle diff:rance entre les hompes! Louls 14 etolt
un grand roy. Je respecte sa memoire, mais il ne
pensolt pas sl humainemgnt que vous Mcnseligneur, ot
ne stexprimoit pas de meme. J'ay vu de ses lettres,

Il ne saveit pas l'ortographe de sa languoe (Corresponde
ence, vole 6, pe 1)

To ths modern reader this last statement sounds almost
like sarcasm, for while Frederick's command of French
was good, his spelling was atrocious,

In the same tons Voltalre continued:

Berlin sera sous vos ausplces 1l'Athenes de
L'Allemagne, et poura l'etre de L'Suropee . « o
Un prince tel que vous doit en ettirer bien
davantage et jJe wvous avoue que je me tiendrois hien
malheureux sl je mouroils avant dtavolir vu LY'exemple
des vrinces st la merveille de 1l'Allemagne. J& ne
veux roint vous flater monseigneur, ce seroit un
erime (Correspondence, vol, 6, p. 1l)e

Kow whils such extreme pralise was tooc extreme t- have
bsen wholly sincere, Voltalire probably vraily did belileve
and hs eertainly hoped that Frederick would be an
enlightened and liberal ruler,

During ths y2ar 1737, the %wo men exchanged thirty
letters, Many of these were long., Often a laetter opened
with a long posm eulogising the other correspondent,
Voltaire surpassed Frederick in this art of emulation,

<«
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In Februsry of 1737, Voltali: wrotzs Crom Austsrdam, where
he had gera oun business, In this letter he borrowad
both froin the ciassics ard the Bible in his praise,
He wrote cf Frederick:
JJ1 est plug ;nstrutt qutAleibiade, Joue de la
flute comme Telemague, ot ast fort auedassus de oe
deux grees; st alors Je dis comme ls vielllard Simeont

Quand mes yeux verront le sauveur de ma vie
(Correspondence, vol, 5, p. 76).

Prederick nevser wont to quite such lengths as thease in

his praise of Voltaire, This may hnrve baen due to the

faot that Voltalire was probably more skilled in the art

of adulation than Frederick, All this eulogy today sounds
artiflelal and affeeted, but we must take into consideras
tion that extrems expressions of nraise were oharacteristie
of the »ollte world of the eighteenth century,

Nosr 414 they limit thair correspondence to mutual
sulogye. Both ware really intereszted ‘n literature, ars,
mathematlies, religion, philosophy, and sciences, The
larger part of most ol thsir longer letters was long
and involved dlscussicns of some phase of lzarning.

They even snowsd a marked interest 1n archeology, a sclence
still in its irfaney at this time, In a letter Frederiek
wrote in April, 1737, he rslated that a new varsion of

the 514 Romulus and Remus story had dbeen found in the
Vatican library, In this account Remue was not killed

by his twin "vrother, but instead escapeé tc northern



a2

Germany, where he founded a 6ity near the Elbe to which
he gave his name, 8Sinse Frederick's city, Rheinsburg,
had formerly been called Remusburg, he believed that
this was probably the 6ity founded by Remus, He even
recalled an ancient story of some human remains having
been found near the eity during an excavation, whieh
he thought might easily have been the remains of Remus
himself., While Prederiek's nalvets is somewhat amusing
in the 1light of today's advances in the science of
archeology, it 1a very evident that he did have an
Interest in archeology.

Each repeatedly expressed a wish to see the other
in person and each repeatedly invited the other for a
visite And yet it was over four years from the time
of Frederick's firat letter until they met in person,
and then only very briefly. Frederick's reason for not
going to Cirey is easy to surmise, While now outwardly
free and the trusted and honored heir to the throne,
he was still very much under the 0ld king's surveillance,
Sples were always watohing him, If he had left Prussis,
his action would probably have been construed as desere
tion and he would have been arrested,

Why Voltaire did not visit Frederick is not so
easily explained., Most historians believe that Voltaire
did not visit Prederick because the prinsce did not inelude
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madame du Chiatslet in his invitation. But that still
leaves the question why hs did not include her, Later
women were, for the most part, banned from his court,
But, while men did outnumber women at Frederiock's eourt at
Rheinsburg, he did have women there, especially actreasses
and women of marked literary ability. Frederick's eynicism
toward all women except his mother and his clder sister,
Wilhelmina, grew with the years, and yet ocertainly at
this time he did enjoy their company and said that without
5

women all conversation fell flate,” 1In his letters to
Voltaire Frederick made quite frequent mention of madame
du Chfitele$ and always with respeot and with, at least,
apparent appreciation, Sometimes he even included a
separate note for her, Madame du Chitelet also sent
Frederick some of her writings, and he sent her cordial
replies, Sometimes he even wrote poetry about her as
in the following extraet from a lettsr he wrote to
Voltaire, November 19, 1737
La sublime Emilie et le divin Voltaire
Sont de ces presents precisux
Qufen mille ans, une fois ou deux

Daignent faire les cisux pour honorer la terre
(Correspondence, vol. 6, p. 249),

5Ludwig Reiners, Frederick tne dreat, translated
by Lawrence P. R, Wilason (New York: G. P. Putnam!s Sons,
1960), p. 73.



All this appears as if Frederickt!s attitude toward her
was very friendly; and yet, whila he never spegifiecally
exoluded her in his invitation, hs never included har,
This slight probably acoounts for the fact that Voltairs
did not vieilt Prederick until 1740, four years after
thelr oorrespondense began,
During 1738, the two exchanged forty-three letters,
Many of these were long and contalned lcng passages of
voetry, Fraderick, for the most part, praised effusively
evarything that came from Voltaire!s pen, He sent his
own poems to Voltalre with the express wish that they
be oorreeted, a task that Voltaire continued to psrform
for many years,
During the summer of 1739, Voltaire and madams
du Chitelet were planning a journey to Cléves, whieh
was to take them quite near Frederick'!s r&aidbnco at
Rheinshurg, Despite Frederick's often rspeated invita-
tion, at least to Voltaire, to visit him, when madame
du Chiitelet wrote to Frederiek about their probable visit,
he nade this reply in & leotter written January 27, 1749:
Yous me flattez, madame, de vous apoprocher oe
printemps de nos frontieres, & j'ai le chagrin de,
vous apprendre que je prends un chemin tout opposo
cette annee; Jje eompte de suivre le roi emn Prusse,
% 66 ne sera que dans deux ans que je reverrsl le
pays de Cleves. Je suis bien malheureux de ce que

le destin me garaft sl contraire (Correspondence,
v°1. 8. Pe 30
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The prinee's excuse may have been honest and sincere,
At this time he was only the helr uppa:snt to Line turciie.
The king may have insisted thet Fiwdsrick sceomprRny ikdm
to Pruesia; and, 2t this time, when rederlck saw that
the alling king eoculd nct live much lcnger, he may have
been doubly eareful not to alienats nhliae

On tne other nend, he may hsve us2d his approaching
trip az an exeuse to werd off & vislt thal would include
madame du Chftelet, Thia again brings up ths gusstion
of Prederiekts feeling toward her, His letters to her,
which were often included with those he sent Voltaire,
were £11lsd with expressions of respect and often extreme
admiration, 8She, in turn, often wrote him lettsrs and
ineluded them with those Voltalre sent to Fraderick,
The prince ecortainly was not stinting in his prulse of
her., However, this was a psriod during which mutual
flattery was the rule, and often was not sincere., Both
the flatterer sand the reeiplent of thc praise realized
this snd thought nothing of the mutual, flowery euloglzing,
It 1is possible that Frederick actuaiiy stcod a little
in awe of madame du ChAtelst's vast knowledgo and undere
atanding of science and physies. Frederlick was markedly
weak in these fields, Whatever the reason, Voltalre
and madame du Chfitelet did not visit Rheinaburg. Another

year was to pass before the two inteileetunl glants of
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the csntury were to meet, and then without madame du
Chételet,

In economics, polities, history, and literature
Prederick believed himself to be a skilled master, In
his poetical ability he overrated himself, He produced
reams upon reams of poetry, all flowery, dull, ard pedantio,
He repeatedly sent his poems to Voltaire with requests
for criticisms and possible changes, At this time
Voltairet!s letters give no hint that this was in any
way a chore, In a letter of April 15, 1739, Voltaire
wrote the following effusive prologue before he began
a long letter filled with suggestions for changes in
one of Frederiek's poems, He wrote:
Votre style rrngxgil est parvenu & un point
d'exacfitude et d'elegance, que J'imagine ques vous
oetes ng dans le Versailles de Louls XIV, que Bossuet
de B3viged votre novertes (Correspondsnoer veis s,
pe 09). '
Voltaire must have written this with his tongue in his

cheek, Nobody can believe that he was sincere, and even
Frederick must have realized this,

During the summer of 1739, Prederick did make
a Journey through Prussia with his father, In his letters
he spoke of the fatigue of the long, gruelling rides
through the country, One letter that he wrote from
Insterbourg in Prussian Lithuania is unique in that in



it Prederick wrote with marked respect and appreciation
about his father, He wrote that at the time when his
father had come tc the throne this reglon, naturally
fertile, had been depopulated by & plague and that the
whole area was in a state of utter devastation and added
that his father had restored the region so well that now
it was flourishing and prosperous, This letter also
indieated the kind of king Frederick was going to be,
8till interested in literature and art, but even more
conssrned with the economic welle=being and advancement
of his country,

Voltaire was writing his Mahomet duri ng this same
time and sending the separate acts to Frederick as he
finished them, In a lettsr written from Potsdam on
September 9, 1739, Prederick made this criticism of the
use of a word in the first act:

Il y a cependant un vers, dans le premier acte,

qui m'a fait naffre un doutej je ne sais si l'usage
veut qu'on dise eergser des etincelles; j'ai oru

u'il fallalt dire etelndre ou etoulfer des etincelles
Correspondence, vol, 9, p. 2317,

It 1s noteworthy that Voltaire accepted Frederick's
suggestion and made the change as he prop;se&;

Voltaire made frequent remarks about his 111 health
and Frederick sent him some powders in November of 1739.
When Voltaire recseived them he wrote back, December 1,

1739, with these lines:
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J'ay oommencs, monseligneur, a& prendre de votre
poudre, Ou il n'y a point de providence, ou elle
me fera du bien, Je n'ay point d'expression pour
remercier Mare Aurele devenu Eseulape (Correspondence,
vol. 9, p. 279).

Voltalre was never at a loss for refsrences to great

historical and mythiecal eharastsrs when he wanted to
flatter Frederiek,

During the winter of 1739«40 Voltaire was vorking
on both H&roge and Mahomet, FPrederick was working on
his Anti-Machiavel, a prose treatiss on politics, Each

sent the other portions of his work for comments and

oriticism., In December of 1739, Frederick wrote this
to Voltaire after he had reeeived a portion of Hﬁrogo
and sent some of his Antl-Machiavel:s

C'est ainsi que je fais l'@change de mes faibles
produstiona contre vos ouvrages immortels, a peu
prea comme les Hollandais, qul troquen{ des petits
miroirs et de verre eontre l'or des Ameriosins
(Correspondence, vol, 9, p. 282),

Prederick's reapectful attitude toward Voltaire's works
was noteworthy and sincere, His depreciation of his
own vworks was probably not quite so honest,

At the same time, Frederick was bringing his Anti-
Machiavel to its finish, It was to be published anonye
mously in Brussels, where Voltalire was taking care of
the business end of the publieation, This work of
Prederick was a frank oritiocism of the intrigues, wars,

underhanded deals, and other unethieal acts and practioces



of BEuropean monarchs of this tims, Voltaire reesived
the last four chapters of the work in January of 1740,
In the letter by whieh he acknowledged thelr reeceipt he
wrote:
Un prince qui ecrit contre la flatterie, sst aussi

étrange qu'un pape qui eerirait oontre 1'infallibilite
(Corresvondenes, vol. 10, p. 27).

What Voltaire 414 not rezlise 2t this time was thsat while
what Frederiek wrote might have been sincore at the time,
it certainly was not what Prederick, himaelf, used for
his own model when he beeeme king, This work was indeed
pablished anonymously in Brussels but caused no graat
Interesat in the literary world,

During ths early months of 1740 Frederick William
became qulite 111, and Fradarieck spent much of the %time
near hia father, On March 12, 1740, Voltalre wrote to
his closs frisnd, Charles Augustin Feriol, ecomte d'Argental,
In this letter he wrote the following sbout Frederiek:

Le prince royal m'a éorit une lettre touchante

an sujet de m., son pdre, qui est & l'agonle, Il
semble qu'il veullle m'avolr suprés de lui, mais
vous me connaisgol trop pour penser que Je pulsse

quitter mde, Chatelet pour un rol et meme pour un
rol aimable (Correspondence, vole 10, p. 65),

Unless a letter of Fredeviock!s written at this time has
bsen lost, this statement is not true. Frederiek often
repeated his invitation to Voltalre and his wish to see
him in person, but at this partiocular time there is
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nothing in any of his letters that even indicstes that
Frederick wantsd Voltaire to eome to Perliin during the
king's lest iliness.

Prederick williem I died om June 1, 1740. It was
June 6 when Frederick, now king of Prussia, sent the
news to Volteire, He wrotet
Mon cher aml, mon sort est ohsnge, et J'ai assiste
aux dernisrs momsnts d'un roi, ’ son agonie, & sa
mort. En parvenent & la royaute, je n'‘avais pas
bescin a:nurcuont de ocette legon pour étre doaouto
de la veanite et des grandeurs humninco (Corresvondence,
vol, 10, p. luk)e
Prederick oclosed this letter with assureances of his con-
tinued friendship both for Voltalre and for madame du
Chiatelet and wrote that, despite all the duties that
had now been suddenly thrust upon him, he wished very
much to continue his happy relations with them. He closed
the letter with thesse wordss
Adieu, mon cher Voltajre; si je vis, je vous verrai,
et cela encore cette annee. Aimes mol toujours,

ot soyes toujours sincere aveo votre ami FREDERIC
(Corresnondence, vol, 10, p. 1LhS),

This letter cleesrly showa that FPrederick did not intend
to allovw his new role ar king In any way to change his
friendship with Voltel re,

On June 12, 1740, Preder™ ok wrote agein, this
time from Charlottenberg. He opened the letter with
@ poem in which he deplored the meny arduous duties of
a king. He ocomplained that the days were never long



enough for him to do all that he needed to do and that he
no longer had any time for any reflection on the higher
things of l1life., He closed the letter with these liness

Enfin, mon cher Voltaire, ne vous refusez pas
plus longtemps 4 l'empressement que j'ai de vous
volr. Falites en ma faveur tout ce que vous oroyez
ue votre humanite comporte, J'iral a la fin 4'aoit
& Wesel, et peut-étre plus loin. Promettes-moi de
me Joindre, car Je ne saurais vivre heureux ni mourir
tranquille sans vous avolr embrasss, Adieu, Frederic.

Mille compliments & la marquiao. Je travaille
des deux mains, d'un oSte & 1'armee, de l'autre au
poupéﬁ)ot aux beaux arts (Correspondenss, vol., 10,
p.l .

Hore he brings clossr the prospect of a face-to=face
meeting between the two men, It 4did not, however, take
place for over three months,

On June 18, 1740, Voltaire wrote his first letter
to the new king, At this time, he was sincerely hopeful
that a new era would dawn in the affairs of Europe with
the ascension of Frederisk to the Prussian throne. All
fhe sontacta that he had had with Frederick up to this
time gave promlise of a sincere bellsver in liderty, peace,
the wellebeing of his people, and the furtherance of the
arts, scilence, and literature, In this letter Voltalre
wrotes

Je me livre & present a .8 Joye avee tout le monde.

Gréce au ciel Jyotre majsato a doja r’mgli pyesque
toutes mes prodictionn. Vous 6tes deja aime, et

dans vos etats et dans 1'Europe (Correspondence,
v°1. 10. PPe 159-60).
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Voltaire was a little premature in writing that Frederick
had already fulfilled almost all of his predietions,
something that would have been impossible if Frederick
had had the best of intentions, since he had been king
less than three weeks,

Despite Frederick'!s complaint that the duties of
his new office took so much time that he had none left
for letters, during July and August of 1740, the two men
actually exchanged eighteen letters, Prederick was making
a trip that would take him im the direction of France,
possibly as far as Paris, and certainly to Brussels, whesre
‘Voltaire and madame du Chitelet were spending the summer,
Madame du Chatelet and Voltaire were making careful and
detsiled arrangsments for the entertaimment of their
royal guest, They expected him to arrive early in
September, The letters they exehanged at this time made
frequent mention of the expected meeting,

Then on August 2, 1740, Prederick wrote to Voltaire:

X vous parler franchement touchant mon voyage,

e¢lest Voltaire, oc'est vous, 6'est mon ami que Je
desire de voir; et la divine Bmilie, aveo toute sa

divinite, n'est que 1'accessoire d'Apollon newtonianisé
(Correspondence, vole. 10, p. 216),

This leaves no doubt that Frederiok was reluctant to
meet madame du Chitelet.
Frederick's next letter, written only one day

later, made this even clearer. In thias letter, Frederick
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no longer indicated that he was coming to Brussels. He

gave no definite place or date for the coming meeting,

but he wrote!

8t11 faut qu'BEmilie accompagne Apollon, j'y consens,
mais, s1 Ja puls vous voir seul, Je pro{oror&i
infiniment le dernier, Je sgrais trop edbloui, Je
ne pourrals soutenir tant d'eclat a la fols; 11
faudrait le voile de Molse pour temperer les rayons
mel;a ?o vos divinites (Correspondence, vol. 10,
Pe 1 .

With this letter Frederick made it bluntly clear that

he d1d not want to meet madsme 4du Chitelet,

The rlanned for meeting 4did not take place in
Brussels, PFrederick became sick, and on September 6,
1740, he wrote %to Voltaire from Wesels

, Kon oher Voltaire, 11 faut, malgre que,j'en ais,
céder & la fievre, plus tenace qu'un Jans-niato;
ot, quelque envie que j'als oue d'aller & Anvers
et & Bruxelles, je ne me vois pas en etat d'entreprendre
pareil voyage sans risque. J'al dons a4 vous proposer
si le chemin de Bruxelles & Cleves ne vous paraftrait
pas trop long pour me joindrej 6test l'unique moyen
do vous voir qui me reste. . « Faites blen mes excuses
i la marquise de ce que je ne peux avoir la satisfactlion
de %;ogoir & Bruxelles (Correspondence, vol. 10,
Pe. .

As a result of Frederick!s fever, Voltalire made a long

journey to meet the king at Cléves, He arrived there
Sunday evening, September 11, 1740, to find Frederick
i ved and suffering from a fever. Frederick remained
until Wednesdey rorning, when each left Cleves, Voltaire
to return to Brussels, Frederick to continue his well-

planned campaign of sharp strategy and aggression. It
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seems quite evident that he never had the least intention
of going to Brussels, His whole trip was a well=thoughte
out campaign of reconnoitering for his immediate military
action against the bishop of Liege. He sent his ultimatum
to the bishop on September 11, ého very day that Frederiek
and Voltaire met in Cléves, The day they parted, September
1}, Frederick!s troops occupied Maaseyk (Correspondence,
vol. 10, Commentary, p. 251).

Unfortunately, the letters that Voltalre wrote
to ﬁis friends about this first meeting have either been
lost or else he wrote very little concerning it. Nowhere
in his eorrespondence can anything be found about his
real reaction, Twenty years later, when the relation
between the two men was far from friendly, Voltaire wrote
frankly about this mooting.6 At that time he 4id not
pleture the king in any friendly light, dut this was
written after Voltaire had become thoroughly disillusioned
with Frederick, and eannot be taken as a true pleture
of his reaction at the time of the meeting,

On September 2}, 1740, Frederick wrote to this
meetings

J'ai vu oce Voltaire qui j'étals si gQurieux de
connaftre, mals je 1'al vu ayant ma fievre quarte,

6Pnomas Carlyle, Frederieck the Great, vol. 5
(Londons Chapman and Hall, IB58«65), p. 5.



& 1'éspyit aussi débandé que le corps affaibli. . . .
Il a l'eloquence de Cicero, la douceur de Pline, &

la sagesse d'Agrippa; i1 reunit en un mot ce qutil
faut rassembler de vertue & d¢ talents de trois des
plus grands hommes d'antiquite (Correspondenss,

vol. 10. Poe 257)0

Frederick seems to have found Voltaire as great as he

had expested him to be. He deplored only his own physiosal
disability for not being able to fully apprecliate his
great visitor,

Nor 41d Voltaire seem to have been at all dise
11llusioned by his meeting with Frederiok, nor with the
young king's very militant action against the bishop of
Liege, He seems even to have condoned the action, 1In
a letter Voltaire wrote to Frederick on September 22,
1740, he made this mention about the king's setion:

M. de Fénélon! vint avant hier ches mol pour me
questionner sur votre personne; Jje lul repondis gue
vous aimer la France et ne la oraignes point; que
vous aimes la paix e% gque vous etes plus capable

ue personne de faire la guerre; que vous travallles
faire fleurir les arts a l'ombre des lois; que
vous faites tout par vous meme, et que ous ecoutes
un bon conseil. Il parla ensulte de 1'evgque de
Liege et sembla l'excuser un peu, mais l1'gveque n'en
a pas moins tort, et 11 en a deux mille demonstrations
a Maseok (Correspondense, vol, 10, p. 257)«
From this letter it seems that Voltaire not only condoned
Frederick's action against the bishop of Liege, but seemed

to find the bishop to blame, and even took a little pride

., ,Hote: This is not the famous Féndlon, ths author
of Telemague, but a minister of Louis XV,
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in Prederiok's military might, something unusual in
Voltaire, who was a pacifist.

In a letter to marquis Jean Baptiste de Boyer,
October 2, 1740, Voltaire wrotet

Yals vous, pourquoi aller en Sulsse? Quoi, 11

¥ & un rol de Prusse dans ls mondel Quoil, le plys

aimable des hommes est sur le trone. . » . Tous

les arts y courent en f{oule, et vous ires en Julsse.

Non, non, oroyes moi, etablisses vous & Berlin; la

raison, la vertu y vont renaftre (Correspondence,

vol, 10, p. 261),
Thic shows how highly Voltaire regsarded Frederick and
that he probably wanted very mueh to be a member of the
court of brilliant men thst surrounded the king at Berlin,
The only logical reason that he did not go at that time
was probably because of madame du Chitelet. While the
king seldom specifically exoluded her in his invitation,
he certainly did not include her,

After this first short meeting in 17&0 letters
passed between the two quite frequently., Desplite the
fact that each often complained about the heavy duties
that took far too much of their time and left too little
for literary pursulits, they not only vwrote each other
vory long letters but often ineiuded long voems,

On October 20, 1740, the emperor, Charles VI,
died, Louis XV and his ministers were at once worried
about what Frederick was going to do, Long before hils

death ths emperor had managed to get every Europsan ruler
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of any importance to sign the Pragmatie Sanction, a document
by which each of them recognired the rights of the smperor's
daughter, Maria Theresa, to all the hereditery territory
of the Houme of Hapsburg, Frederick Willlam I had signed
the agreemsnt with the other EBurcpean monzarchs. The
question was whether the young king would abidms by the
paper his father had ;ignado

The French court was upset about Frederick's pians,
The nost trusted envoy they could ssnd was Voltaire, who
could go to Berlin ostensibly only because of his olose
friendship for Prederlick and without any ultarior motive.
Cardinal Fleury appears to have lost no time in deeiding
to send Voltaire, It is probable that a peraonal envoy
was sent to Clrey to sound ocut Voltaire about such a
mission, for on October 27, 1740, only a week after the
emperorts death, Voltaire wrote to his friend, Claude
Adrien Helvetius, that he would probably go to Berlin
shortly (Correspondence, vol. 10, p. 305).

Cardinal Fleury must have sent a message direotly
to Voltalre in which he probably tried to mske up for
past persecutions and to welocome him baek into the favor
of the court, for on November 2, 1740, Voltaire wrote
& letter to Fleury that seems to be s reply to just such

a letter,
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Voltaire wrote to the cardinal again on Kovember L,
1740, While there is nothing in the letter that clearly
said that he was golng to visit Frederick in order to
feel out his intentions, there can be little doubt that
he was going on just such a mission and at the requess
of Fleury. It may be that the request was made by a
personal envoy and not by letter, since no letter has
been found, Voltaire opened his letter with these lines:
Je pe peux résister aux ordres reiteres de sa
mageste le rol de Prusse, Je vals, pour quelques
Jourg, feire ma cour a un monarque qui prend votre
maniere de penser pour son modele (corrolgondonco.
vol, 10, p. 316).
He then went on to tell the cardinal that he was sending

him & book, Anti-Machiavel, which he was sure would echo

many of the cardinalts views, Voltaire closed the letter
with a request that, if the cardinal wished to communicate
with him during his stay in Berlin, to send the message
under the address of Beauvau, the Pranch,envby who had
been sent to Berlin to congratulate Prederick upon his
aseension to the throne,

Voltaire appears to have lost no tims in infoming
Frederick about his intended visit, Already on October 28,
1740, FPrederick wrote to Algarotti, an Italian at his
eourt, about the proposed visits

Voltaire arrive i¢l dans quinse jours. . . .

Bnilie est & Fontainbleu, et 1ui, . . . ne pouvant

f.a aller en France la Prusse sera ls pis aller
Correspondenee, Appendix 37, vol. 10, p. 360).




This indicates that when Frederick first received word
sbout Voltaire's intended visit he did not suspect thsat
Voltaire was coming on a secret miasion, but only as a
guest,

On November 1, 1740, Fleury replied to Voltaire
with a cordial letter, giving his approval of Voltaire's
visit to PFPrederiek and speaking of the new king with the
hi ghest esteem. It was clearly intended for Frederick's

eyes {(Correspondence, Commentary, vole 10, p. 323),

This {s borne out by the latter that Voltalre sent to
Fleury from Berlin, November 26, 1T40. In this letter
he wrote:

J'al regu, monseigneur, votre lettre du li, que
monsisur le marquis de Beauvau, m'a remiss; j'ai
obel aux ordres que votre eminence ne m'a point
donnees; J'lal montre votre lottr' au roi de Prusse
(Correspondence, vol, 10, p. 328).

Voltaire had lost no time in showing Fleury's letter to
the king, for he had arrived in Berlin on November 25,

Prederick nrobably guessed the real reason for

Voltaire's vislt =oon after the latter's arrival, slthough

he made no mention of this in his letters. The day thst
Voltaire srrived the king wrote to Algarotti:

Voltaire est arrive tout etincelant de nouvelles
besautes, at bien autrement sociable qu'a Cleves.
Il est de trés-bonne humeur, et se plaint moins de
ses indispositions que d'ordimaire. Il n'y a rien
de plus frivoles que nos occupations (Correspondence,
vol. 10. De 360).
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This indicates that Frederick made the visit wholly a
social one with no discussion of affairs of state.,
On November 28, 1740, Prederick wrote even more
frankly about Voltaliret
Ton svare boire la 1lie de son insatiabj}e désir
de s'enrichir; 11 aura mille trois cents ecus.
Son apparition de six jours me coiitera par journee

einq eent cingquante ecus. Clest bien payer un fou;
Jamais bouffon de grand seigneur nteut de pareils

gages (Correspondense, vol. 10, p. 360).

Prom this 1t seems that part of the frivolous occupations
to which the king referred in the first letter was gambling,
Throughout all his 1life Voltalre showed extrems shrewdness
in making money and this extended even to gambling.
During this time both royalty and nobllity often played
for high‘ltakos in a sociable game of cards, Frederick,
who was always very economiocal, was not happy abous
Voltaire's winnings,.

So far as learning anything about Frederiek's
plans, Voltaire's mission was fruitless, The few letters
that Voltaire wrote from Berlin dur ng his short stay
there give no hint about his success or failure, We
do have numerous notes that the two men exchanged during
this times All of these deal with literary matters and
are sharacterized by the same flowery praise found throughe

out their sorrespondense, Voltaire left Decsmber 1, 1940,
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and sent Frederick a parting letter that he began with
these lines of poetry:

Je vous gquitte, 11 est vral; mais mon coeur déehire
Ver vous revolera sans ¢esse,

And clozed with these liness

Je me jefte aux pleds de votre humnnit‘. ot jl'ose
étre attache tendrement au plus aimable des hommes,
eomme j'admire le protesteur de l'emplire, de ses
sujets, et des arts (Qorrespondence, vol. 10, p. 335).

Although Frederick's plans of aggression must already
have been well worked out duri ng Voltaire's visit, he
had not allowed even a hint of them to leak out, About
two weeks after Voltalre's departure from Berlin,
Frederick's troops moved into Silesia and began the War
of the Austrian Succession, in which France soon too
became involved,

Voltaire traveled by slow stages to Brusseis where
he arrived early in January, By this time he must have
learned about Frederick's invasion of Silesia, He seens
to have been somewhat disappointed in the kind of king
his peace~loving philosophereprince had bscome, However
the two did eontinue to exchange some letters, even though
Prederick was writing from the battlefield and often
eomplained of the constant heavy duties and rigors eof
war,

During his visit to Berlin Voltaire had made she
acquaintance of Wilhelmina, Frederick's oldest sister
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and the margravine of Bayreuth, March 15, 1741, Voltaire
wrote her a letter that reflected his disappointment in
Frederick, This letter has never been found, but we
know about 1t by a letter that Wilhelmima wrote to
Prederick April 1, 1Thl., In thies letter she wrote thus
about the letter she had reeeived from Voltaire:

, J'al requ une grande lettre de Voltaire aveo une

ep{tre qui commence par; "soeur d'Apollon devenu

Mars,” 1] est fort estomaque de ce changement. Mais

Je crois qu'il nta pas bien consulte sa philosophie,

ot qutil iroit au bout du monde pour quelques mille

ducats (Corresrondense, textual notes, vol. 11, p. 62),
Voltaire had probably ehosen this method of eriticiszing
the king through his sister because he did not wish to
alienate him through a more direct eriticism and also
because he knew that Wilhelmina was closer to Frederick
than any other person and vwielded a stronger influence
over him, The mention of the ducats agein dbrings up the
111 feeling he had engendered at the Prussian court by
winning too heavily at cards, Voltaire's habit of turning
every possible opportunity, even social contacts, into
making money wes a blot on his character and often rankled
his friends,

Merch 25, 1741, Volteire wrote again to Frederiock,

As in many letters he opened with a poem, which here

eulogized tho'king'n exploits in war, Then he closed
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ths letter wlith one of the frankest questions that he
ever asked the king.

Jo voudrais seulement sirs que vous sugsioszs la bonto
do me dire, la maln sur la gonsciencs, si vous etes
plus heureux que voug ne l'etiez a Rhelnsberg. Je
oconjure votre mageste de satisfaire a ocstts question
philosophique (Correspondence, vole. 1ll, p. 73).

Whether Frederick answered Voltaire's questior with equal
frankness is not known, At least one of his lettsrs %o
Voltaire at this time has been lost,

April 16, 1741, Frederick wrote Voltairs a latter
in which he told of his defsat of the Austrians at Molilwits,
This was the battle in whioch Frederick fled like a coward,
thinking everything lost, but one of his veteran gsnerals
rallied the troops and won the battle for him., Raturally,
the king did not give thess detalls,

Voltaire replied with a poem in which he praised
the king's exploits in war as bheing equal, if not greater,
than those of Charles XII and Gustaphus Adolphus of Sweden
and of Turenne, the great French general, &nd added that
beside all these gquslities he was a great poet, Voltalire
wrote?

Mon prince est au=dessus de leur gloire vulgaire,

Quend 11 ntest point Achille, 1l sait aotre un Homcro
(Correspondence, vols 11, Pe 91).

This praise of warlike pursuits is quite a departure

from Voltaire!s usual attitude towerds war,



Although Frederick was actively engaged in war
all through the summer of 1741, frequent letters passed
between the two men, Many of these were largely ln verse,
even those from Prederiock, One wonders how he ever found
the time for writing such long poems when he was very
busy planning out the strategy of his campaigns and
. fighting his battles.

As Prederiek's victories, his indomitable driving
power and scheming, and adroit politiocal skill were wimning
for him both the admiration and fear of all Europe, Voltaire
too seems to have caught some of the admiration and lost
a little of his regret for his "Apollon devenu Mars,"

In a long letter in verse that Voltaire wrote to Frederick
on June 29, 1741, he compared himself to a pigeon and
Frederick to an eagles
Un honnéte pigeon, point fourbe et point guerrier
eashe ses jours ebsours au fond d'un eolombler,
Jde sulis ce vieux pigeon; j'admire en sa carriero
sette aigle foudroyante et si vive et si figére,
Ahl 1 d'un autre bes les dieux m'avalent pouryu,
S1 j'etalis moins pigeon, je vous sulvrais peut=stre;
Je verrals dans son ocamp mon adorablse maftre
(Correspondence, vol, 11, pe 1Ui5),
This eomparison must have drewn a smiles from the shrewd
kinge In his reply Prederiock lauded Voltaire's exploits
in the fleld of letters as much greater than his in the
field of battle, Possibly as an excuse for his continual

wars he wrote these lines¢
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Chague mortel est fol dans un 2oﬁt different
(Correspondence, vol., 11, p. 162).

This seems to give some insight into Frederick's eharacter,
He accepted the fast that war had a fascination for him,
On August 24, 1741, Prederick wrote again from
his camp at Reichenbach, In this letter he made this
remark:
Les hommes ne sont pas falits pour ls verite.

Jo les regarde comme une horde de cerfs dans le parc

d'un grand seigneur, et qui n'ont d'autre fonction

que de peupler et de remplir cet enclos (Corrosgondonoo.

vol, 11, p. 192).
If these lines give a true ploture of Frederick's view
of mankind in gsneral, they go a long way in explaining
his wars, If the common people were only so many animals
in the park of a great lord and if their only function
was to inoreese their numbers for the greater glory of
the lord, then their slaughter in war for the greater
glery of that lerd was a natural deduction, Prederiek
was an absolute autoerat, one of the benevolent despots,
Throughout all his reign he eared for the wellebeing of
his people, except that he sacrificed them in war, He
wanted his people to be eeonomieally prosperous, happy,
healthy, and even educated, But this was not for She
good of the people, but rather beeause such prosperous,

happy people were a better foundation on which to builad

his own power and glory.
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During 1742, letters between the two mun were less
frequant, The reason probably lises in $that both were
very busy with thelr own affairs. Frederick was busy
with his war., For Voltaire {t was a busy year and, in
many ways, a bitter, difficult year. He again sought
admission to the Academy and agaln was refused, His
vublication of Mahome$ was eriticized as an attack on
the monarehy, religion, and even morallty., But, on the
other hand, Mrope apveared and was a great success,
He was also working on his Siéscle de Louis le grand and
sending advance portions of the work to Frederick for
his critieisms, The king wrote back that he was devouring
Voltaire's writings with delight and wrots with regret$
about his embroilment in war and the unfortunate duplicity
of mankind that had foresd him into war, apparently overe
looking the faot that 1t was his own duplicity that had
started the war,

After the Prussian vietory over the Austrians,
April 10, 1741, Louis XV had realized that Frederick was
a pover not only worth recognising, but worth joining,
He sent Belle~Isls, his minister, to Prederick to make
& treaty of alliance between France and Prussia, The
French army joined Prussia in an attack on Austria all
through the summer of 1741 and the following winter and
spring,
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Tren, with his usual duplielty, during the summer
of 1742 Frederick deserted the allies that had joined him
in war against the empress, Without consulting them he
sscretly concluded the Fesce ol Breslau with Maria Theresa
on June 11, 1742, by which shs recognized his rights to
Silesia. Quite naturally the French reacticn to Frederiock's
action was not friendly.
Voltel re's reaction was one of Joy. Omn June 30,
1742, he wrote to Frederiock, commending him for having
rade peace, He wrote, howsver, that hslf of the people
vere csondemning Prederick severely and that the other
half did not really know what it was all about, This
rather indiscreet letter was copened by the French ¢ensors
and caused a stom that almost sent Voltaire to the
Bastille,
Voltalre rode out the storm with success and, in
a letter to Frederick, dated July 15, 1742, he wrote:
Dieu at le diahble navent ce qulest devenue la
lettre que jt'eoris & v.m. sur le besu sujet, vers
la fin de Juln, et comment elle est parvenue en
dteutres mains; Je svis fait, moi, pgur ignorer les
dessous des cartes, Mais j%al essuye une des plus
1llustres tracassories de ee Jponde; mais je suls si

bon eosmopolite, que je me rejouiral de sout
(Correspondence, vol, 12, p. 70)e¢

With this letter Voltaire dimsmissed the ineident, In
his reply, Prederiek deeclared that it meant nothing to

him, even though 211 Prance e¢ondemned him for making
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peace, 80 long as his philosopher friend was pleased,
What Voltaire probably did not realisze at the time was
that the Peace of Breslau was for Frederiek only an
interlude, to give him time and opportunity to build wup
his army and resources for further territorial grabs and
the wars they would require,-

Frederiek's interest in Voltalre's works eontinued,
and he repeatedly asked for further portions of his
unpublished works, Mareh 15, 1743, Frederick wrote:

Envoyezemgl, je voue prie, la Pucelle (j'ai la

rage de la depusceler), et votre HIstolre, et vos
epigrammes, et vos odes, et vous=meme, Enfin j'espére

d'une ou dfautre fagon de vous voir i1ei (Correspondence,
v°l. 12' Pe 207)‘

There can be no doubt that Frederick really appreciated
Voltalret's literary works and that he read them with
Interest and extreme care, He also felt extreme pride
in being privileged to read Voltalre's works before they
were nublished, and his letters contain frequent requests
for them, especially for La Pucelle, Voltaire did not
make & secret of this very elever poem, by which he
ridieuled both accepted religion and morals, He delighted
in quoting passages to admiring friends and yet he lived
in terror lest somebody make an unauthorized publication,
Quite naturally he did not eare to send 1t, His letters
were opened far too often for him to trust La Pucelle

to a letter, It 1s even nossible that he did not trust
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Frederisk mot to elluw tia poem L0 reach the eyes of
the puhlis, Voltaire sent advance chapters of Ls Siécle
de Louls XIV, but it sesems he never sent any of La Pucelle,
for the request wag often repeated in the letters} but
there was never any evidence that Frederick received 1it,
Frederick wrote again on June 15, 1743, and repeated
his request with these e¢losing linest

Envoyez=moi la Pucells, ou je vous renie
(Correspondence, vole 12, Do 24L)e

This was really an 1dle threat, Voltaire did not send
ks Pucelle, snd the two remained good friends,

Voltaire was not barred from Paris at this time,
but he was suffering under a cloud of eriticism, Once
again there had been an opening in the Academy, and his
name had been rejected, All this gave Frederick an
exeellent reason for renewing his invitation to Voltalre
to come to Berline In his letters he made much of the
lack of anpreciation Voltaire was receiving from his own
people and painted rosy pletures of the warm welcoms and
true appresiation he would reecelve at his courte, Voltaire
suffered keenly from the constant persecution he was
getting in Paris, and the prospeot that Frederick painted
must have made Berlin look very inviting, In the summer
of 1743 he decided to accept Frederick's invitation, but

not quite in the eharacter of a fugitive from the French
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eourt that Frederick was led to expeet. June 15, 1743,
he wrote to Frederiok:
Vous seul, sire, me consoles de tout ee que je
vols, et quand je suis prét a pleurer sur la descadence
des arts, je me dist Il y a dans l'Europe un monarque
qui les aime, quli les cultive, et qui est la gloire
de son siecle; je me dis enfin: Je le verral bientdt, .
ce monarque eharmant; eée roi homme, ce Chaulieu couronne,
0e Tagite, ce Xenephon; oui, Jje veux partirj madame
du Chitelet ne pourra m'en empecher; je quitterai
Minerve pour Apollon, Vous étes, sire, ma plus grande
assion, et 11 faut bien se contenter dans la vie
gorrespondense, vol, 12, p. 247).
This letter shows that Voltaire was Just as elever in
duplicity as Frederlick, For Voltaire was again going
as & 8py to try to sound out Frederick about his intentions
in the now general war of the Austrian Succession, Prussia
was for the moment at pease, to all appearances satisfied
with the aequisition of Silesia, and without any further
territorial ambitionse, But every diplomat in Burope
rightly suspected that this was only a lull in Frederick's
plans of conquest, Voltaire was not loved at the French
ecourt; but, on the other hand, there was nobody else whom
Loulis XV eould send who would arouse less suspicion and
who was as close to Frederiek,
As for Voltaire, the e¢hanse to play a double role

seemed to delight him, The few persons who wers in on

the seoret played thelr roles well, La Mort de César
was about to be revived in Paris and then suppressed by

royal demand, so that Frederick might be sure that Voltaire
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was still in disgrace at Paris, Madame du Chdtelet wrote
pitiful letters to her friends bemoaning her loss of
Voltaire to Frederiock, So well was this done that even
¢lose friends of Voltaire were deceived and sharply
oritieiszed the court, Only Frederick, whose perspicasity
was unrivalled, was not deceived and guessed, shortly
after Voltaire'!s arrival, that his philesopher friend
was eoming.as a diplomat en mission (Correspondense,
Commentary, vol, 12, p. 242).

Voltaire must have left Paris almost at once after
the letter of June 15, 1743, to Frederick, for by June 20
he was at The Hague, where he was making a stop for business
reasons and where he awaited the horses and carriage
that Prederick was sending to feteh him to Berlin,

Voltaire remained at The Hague until August 23,
1743, During this time he continued to write letters
to Frederick, who was in Silesia at the time, These were
all on the usual pattern, full of eulogy, often in verse
form, and about his writings and theatrical productions,
We find no hint of the real purpose for the coming visit,
FPrederick sent frequent short letters to Voltaire during
this time, He was watching the war maneuvers with interest
and reported to Voltaire his utter contempt for the Frensh
soldiers, He called them liches and wrote that all dead
bodies found on the battlefisld had been shot in the back



(Correspondence, vol, 13, pe 49)e Voltaire's letters

to Jean=Jacques Amelot de Chaillon, the French foreign
minister, were at this time evsn more numerous than those
to Frederick, Most of these were written in code, 1In

Besterman's Correspondense they are given both in the

original eode end with the deciphered version, They
show that Voltaire was taking his mission seriously,
While there is no really remarkable information in them,
Voltaire sent long lists of supplies stationed at various
points, all the informmation he 6ould gather about the
Prussian army, and the dispatches from Prussia that he
could lesrn about while at The Hague,

It is not likely that, at this time, Frederieck
suspested Voltairets real motive for the coming visit,
Frederick had long been eager to add Voltalre to the
eirele of writers and artists with whom he surrounded
himself, He now adopted a very reprehensible trick to
put Voltaire into such a 4diffieult position at the Prensh
ocourt that he would be foreed to stay in Berlin, He
sent Friedrieh Rudolf, eount of Rothenburg, a letter
that containsd a forged poem supposed to have ocome from
Voltaire., He used no deceit toward the count but openly
wrotes

Je ne vous écris aujourd'hul que des ecfonneries.

Voiei un morceau d'ugo lettre de Voltaire, gque je
prie de faire tenir a 1l'eveque de Mirepois par un

52
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canal detourne, rans que vous et moi paraissons dans
cette affalre, Mon intention est de broulller Voltaire
si bien an Pranee, qu'il ne 1lul reste de parti a
prendre que celui ds venir ehez nous (COrrolgondonOQ.
vol, 13, pp. 45=46).
Part of the elleged poem ran as followst

Non, non, padant de Mirepoix,

Prétre avare, esprit fanatique,

Qui pretend nous donmer les lols,

Tel qu'un vieux prieur seraphique

Dans un elo{tre de Saint-Frangois,

Culstre imbecile og tyrannique,

Fait pour chanter a haute voix

Ton rituel soporifique

Dans un éouvent de SainteFrangois,

Sur moil tu nfauras point de droits,

Loin 4u plus stupide des rois

Je vals oublier & la fois

La sottise de Mirepoix

Et la sottise academique (Correspondence, Commenteary,

vol., 13, p. h‘)o

In this Frederiock overplayed his hand, Such gross,
infamous ridieule and insults were far too erude to have
eéome from Voltaire's pen, The poem was rscognised for
what it was, a forgery, and 1f it had any effect whatever
on the ¥rench ecourt it was to strangthen Voltaire's
position, That he was in favor and his mission held

to bs well eondueted up to this point is proved by a
letter from de Chailloun, ths foreign sesrstary, to Voltalire,
written August 22, 1743, in whieh he highly oommended
Voltairet's work up to thie date and disoussed means of
calling him back to France, after his work at Berlin

was done, without arousing Frederick's suspiclonsa,



Voltairs ar»rived at Berlin, August 30, 1743, where
he took rcoms at the Hotel de Montgobert, He remained
thers until about the middle of October for by Octoder 27
he was back at The Haguee 8o far as learning anything
about Prederiock's intentions in the War of the Austrian
Suecession, Voltaire!s efforts were unsuccessful,
Frederiok was far too shrewd to disclose any of his plans
even to 0loss friends, And despite all the mutual pralse
and emulation that passed between the two men and all
the protsstationas of extreme affection that they so often
exchanged, it iz doubtful whether either sotually trusted
the other at this voint in their friendship. Voltaire
probably looked for some perscnal gain by his friendship
with Frederick either through honor, position, or prestige,
And possibly Frederick looked upon Voltaire more as an
smusing sntertainer of remarkable prestige. It seems
that Frederick at this stage, his own ego having been
inflated since he head beeome an intriguing and warlike
king, no longer really took Voltaire quite seriously or
avoprecietsd his real worth end the derth of his politieal
views,

Bven while Voltaire wes in Berlin, and coften a
house or dinner guest of the king so that they saw each
other almost every day, they still]l exechanged letters
and poems, None of thsse shed any light on Frederick's
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political intrigues, Nor do we leern anything from
VYoltaire!s lsttors to the foreign minister in Paris,
Strangely encugh, while prasticeslly all of the letters
that he wrote from The Hague were in ocode, only two of
thoses from Berlin are in eode, at least es they have
eome down to us,
Although no letter has been found by which Voltaire
was informed of Frederliekt!s triek to attempt to make
his return to the Freneh eourt impossible by his forged
poem, 1t is evident from a letter that Voltaire wrote
to de Chalillou, the French foreign minister, October 3,
1743, that by this time Voltaire did know about the
attenmpt at deception, He wrote:
I1 a eru que s! j'6tois brouillé sans ressource
aves 1l'homme qyi est le sujet de ces plaisanteries
Jo seralis force alors 4d'accepter les offrea que J'ay
toujours refuses de vivre 4 la eour de Prusge., Ne
pouvant me gagner autrement 11 eroit mfacquerir en
me perdant en Frence, mais je vous jure gque j'aimerais

mieux vivre dans un village suisse que de joulr &
6e prix de la Paveur dangereuse d'un roy capable.de

~»

mettre de la trahison dans l'amitie meme (Correspondence,
vol, 13, pp. 95+96).

This shows that Yoltaire not only had learned about the
trieck, but a letter that Frederiock wrote on Ostober 1i,
1743, indicates that he even broached the subject to
Prederiok, For Frederick wrote:

Voltaire a déniche, je ne sais comment, la petite
§rahison que noug lui avong faite, et 11 on est
etrangement piquej 11 se defdche-a, j'espere
(Corresnondensas, Commentary, vol. 13, p. 96).




Whatever unpleasant passed between the two because of
Predeviek’s triek 414 not ehange the oharacter of their
letterr to sach other., Voltalre went firat to ilie Hague
and then Brussels and arrived im Parls sarly in January.
Frederiek spent the fall and early winter in and near
Berline. Thelr letters st this tlime resumed the 0ld pattern
of mutual sulogy with many invitations {rom Frederliek

to return to Berlin,

Voltalre, back in favor wlth the sourt, wolle he
may have hasen somawhat disiliusionod wilth Frederick, stlll
oould not kee» from boasting about the king's llbsral
offars to woo him to Berlin, Charies Phillppe, Dus de
Luynes, wrote in his Mamolres of this time:

Yoltaire vient d'arriver o1 de Berlin, il dit

que le rol de Prusse lul a offert une belle maison

ot 12,000 livres de pension s'il voulait s'etabiir

& Berlin (Correspondence, Commentary, vol, 13, p. 159),.
The first part of this is true, But the amount of the
pension 1s almost certainly exaggerated, Frederick was
far too parsimonious and needing his money too mueh for
war to offer that mueh to a man whose only returns would
be asathetie,

The next four years very few latters were exchanged
betwesn Voltaire and Frederick. In contrast to the many

letters exchanged in their sarlier correspondence, from

tha time in Ostober, 1743, until the end of 1748 they
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excehanged only eighteen letters, The reason lay not so
mueh in any misunderstanding or sven a cooling of their
elose friendship, but rather that their lives took different
eourses, Early in 1744, Prederick renewed his alliance
with FPranee and prepared to reenter the war, by August
he was actively engaged in fighting, in working out battle
manesuvers, and personally leading his armmy, In the early
years of the War of the Austrian Succession, Prussia and
Franoce were allies; later they were enemies, In the early
part Austria stood alone against most of Europe, in the
latter part Prussia was fighting alone ageinat most of
her fomer allies, With all this war and intrigue on
his hands, Frederick had 1little time for writing letters.

Voltaire, during this time, was enjoying the highest
porularity he ever attained at the French court. He
finished the Princesse de Navarre and saw it produced

in splendor at Versailles., In the same yoar, 17il, he
wrote an ode to celebrate the French vistories in the
Austrian war, He was also aceorded the honor of having
his Fontenoy printed by the royal press in the Louvre.
In January, 1745, through the influemce of madame de
Pompadour, he was appointed historiographer«royal, a
pos$ that earried with 1t both high honor and a salary

of two thousand livres a year,
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Despite all these honors Volteire had one bitter
disappointment to swallow, There was another vacancy
in the Academy and the young Abbé de Bernis, who had
published only a few insignifieant trifles, was elected
to ri1ll the vacaney, mueh to Voltaire's chagrin, Voltaire
had to wait another two years, until May of 1746, when
he received the long=deserved honor of entrance into
the Academy, This year marked the peak of his prestige
at Versallles,

The few letters that passed between them followed
the usual pattern, Voltaire often included a poem in
his letters, PFrederick was too busy to compose poetry
or much letter writing until Ootober, 1748, when the
Peace of Alx~le=Chapeslle finally brought the War of the
Austrian 3uccession to a close,

In the meantime, a series of events brought about
e change in the 1ifs of Voltaire, Possibly Voltaire
was already beginning to lose favor at court, Late in
1747 an indiscree$ remark foroced him and madame du
Chiitelet to flee, Madame du Chfitelet was playing oards
with a group of the royal household at Versailles and
losing heavily, Voltalire, who was not in the gams but
only an ebserver and who always had a keen eye for money,
became irritated and remarked that she was playing with
cheata, The two at onoce fled to a retreat offered by
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the duchesse du Malne at Sesaux, From there they went
to the court of Stanialas, the former king of Polend, at
Lunéville in lorraine, Here, madame du Chitelet fell
in love with the young poet and socldier, the marquis ds
Saint-Lambert, Voltalre and madame du Chiitelet remained
there throughout 1748 and the winter that follewed,
Then they returned to Cirey when madame du Chiitelet confided
to Voltaire that, due to her liasison with 3aintelLambert,
she was pregnant,
November 29, 1748, just a 1little over a month
after he had signed ths Peace of AlxelaeChapelle, Prederiok
wrote Voltaire & long letter from Potsdam, He made no
mention of his four years of war but wrota ehiefly adbout
Voltaire and his literary works and showad himself eager
to renew thelr sorrespondenss., He renewed his invitation
for Voltaire to come to Berlin, assuring him that he
would find better aceommodations there than with an ex-king
at Luneville,
In reply, Voltaire stated that he was remaining
at the oourt of the ex~king of Poland at Lunaville for
reasons of health, He wrote to Frederieck on January 10,
17493
Sire o'est que Luneville est preés des eaux de
Plumbieéres et que je vais l1la souvent pour faire
durer encor quelques jours une malheureuse maghine

dans 1a quelle il y a une &me qui est toutte a
votre majeste (Correspondence, vole 17, p. T)e




This exouse sounded reasonable, ainecs throughout his
long life Voltalire was, by his ovwn words, always on the
verge of collapse or even deeath, The resal reason was
madame du Chatelet's infatuation for the young marquis
de Saint-Lambert,

Py the middle of Mareh, Voltaire's letters to
Frederiok took on a new tone., It is probable that by
this time Voltaire knew that medame du Chiatelet was
pregnant and that he had some doubts about his future
with her and his retreat at Cirey. We do not know when
and how Frederiak leamed about her condition, but he
must have heard about 1t some time early in the sumer
of 1749, for on June 10 he wrote toc Voltaire and asked
him again to come to Rerlin and made these remarks about
madame du ChiAtelet:

Madame du Chiatelet acocuche dens le mols de septembre;

vous n'gtes pas une sage-femme, ainsl elle fera bien
ses couches sans vous (Corresvondence, vel. 17, p. 85),

In the letter that Voltalre wrote in renly on
June 29, 1749, hs dld not minee any words:

Ry ncmo Frederioc le grand , . . ne peut & pnunt
m'empecher de remplir un devoir que Je crois tres
ipdiepensable, Jo ne suls ny falsour d'enfens, ny
medecin, ny sage fomme, mals jo suls gmy, et Je ne
quitteray pas, méms pour votre majeste, une femme
qQui peut mourir au mois de septembre. Ses couches
ont l'air d'etre fort dangereuses, mais sl elle s'en
tire blen, je vous promets sire de venir vous faire

ma ocour au mols d'octobre (gorrolgondonoe, vel. 17,
Pe 102).
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This letter refleots Voltaire's fesrs about madame du

Chiitelet's approaching accouchement, f{ear~s that were

traglecally realised,

Madame du Chidtelet gave birth to a daughter the
night of September 3, 1749, Her delivery was not diffieult,
and she was giving every appoearanse of making a satisfsctory
resovery, when she died quite suddenly about a week later,
Both she and Voltaire wers at Lundvills at this time,

Three letters that Voltaire wrote on September 10, 1749,
with the sad news, have come down to us, Hec was brokens
hearted by her death, He acoompsnied her husband, the
marquis du Chitelet, to Cirey for her funeral and burial,
and then left Cirey forsever,



CHAPTER V
VOLTAIRE A8 FREDERICK'S GUEST

During the summer of 1749, Frederlick's demands
for a visit hed become more insistent, It 1s probeble
that Voltaire fully expeeted to keep his promise to
come to Berl in as soon as madame du Chiatelet was safely
through her childbirth, Her death left Voltaire in a
state of despair and collapse and qulite unahle to make
any definite plans for his future., For seventeen years,
madame du Chételet had been his most intimate friend
and closest companion, Her chidteau had haen his home.
Even when he had promised Fredsri ek during the summer
of 1749 to come to his court it 1s not likely thst he
had any doefinite pleans of lecving Cirey for good. If
he accepted an invitation te Prederiek!s court after
mademe du Chiitelet's death, it could easily be on a
permanent basis sinece he no longer had an established
home, Voltaire did not make such a decision in haste,

In the meantime, Frederiok repsated his invitation,
It 1is unfortunate that we do not have either the letter
by which Volteire annocunced madame du Chidtelet®s death
to Frederieck, nor the letter of condolence by whieh
Frederick replied, nor 4o we know the oexaot date when
the news of her death reached him, It 1s evident that
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on September 12, 1749, he had not heard either of the
birth of the e¢hild or about madame du Chatelet's death
for that dey Algarotti reported in a latter that Frederiok
spoke to him about Voltaire's coming visit with these
wordss

Clest bien dommage qu'une dme sussi ldche soit
unie & une aussi beau genie. Il a les gentillesses
ot les malices d4'un singe. Je vous oconterail oce que
ctest lorsque je vous reverral; cependant je ne ferai
blant de rien, car j'en ai besoin pour 1l'etude de
l'elooution frengaise., On peut apprendre de honnes
choses d'un scelerat. Je veux savoir son frangais;
que m'importe sa morale? Cet homme a trouve le moyen
de reunir les contyraires.s On admire son esprit, en
meme temps gu'on meprise son caractere. La du Chatelet
est accoushee 4'un 1livre, ot 1'on attend encore l'enfant;
peute=gtre que, par distraction, elle oubliera
d'acsoucher, ou, si 1l'embroyon paraft, ce sera des
euuwrel molool tcorrolpondenoo, vol. 17, commentary,

164 ).
This statement elearly shows that Frederick did not know

that madame du Chiitelet had eome through the delivery,
nor anything about her death on September 10, This 1is

not surprising when one eonsiders how slowly letters
traveled at this time, What is surprising is the change
in Frederick's feelings toward Voltaire. There can be

no doubt that in the beginning of their friendship
Frederick sincerely admired Veoltaire and respected him
highly, Outwardly there was no change in their relations,
but a remark like this one shows that Frederiock at this

time was planning on uasing Voltaire for his own
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aggrandiztement and no longer had any real respeot or
love for the great man he was trying to lure to his court,

By September 19, 1749, Prederick had heard the
sad news, possibly from Voltaire himself, but this is
uncertain, Algarotti reported that, when he spoke with
sympathy of Voltaire's bereavement and grief, Frederick
replied:

Voltaire déclame trop dans son affliction, ee qui

me falt juger qu'il se consolers vite (Correspondence,
vole 17, commentary, p. 207).

It does not appear that Frederick's friendship for Voltalire
at this time was truly sincere,

During the winter of 1749-50, Voltaire lived in
Paris with his niece, madame Denis., In many ways 1t was
a successful year for him, Oreste was produced and won
nigh acelaim. Rome sauvée was shown privately. Paris
was unusually hospitable, Still he was regarded with
suspicion by the court, All this time he and Frederick
exchanged numerous letters in which each seemed to try
to outdo the other in praise, Voltaire obtained from
Louls XV his permit to leave and made arrangements to
go to Berlin in July, Frederiock sent a carriage and
horses to bring Voltaire to Berlin, PFrederick even composed
& poem in Prench addressed to ths horses that were to
bring Voltaire to Berlin, and then recited it to the
horses, although Frederick helieved, "La langue allemande
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est falte pour parler aux bétes" (Correspondence, vol. 18,
pe. 88)e Then hs sent the posm on to Voltaire,

Voltaire left Paris on July S5, 1741. He was not
to see it again for twenty-sight years, He was in Berlin
on July 24, for he wrote Frederick a letter from Potsdam
on that date, since the king was not in Berlin when Voltaire
arrived., Voltaire wrots numerous letters from Potsdam
during the first few weeks after his arrivsl, Ia all of
these he praised Frederick uhd the Prussian court almost
without 1limit, Voltaire had arrived in Berlin at a most
oprortune time, Frederick's sister, Wilhelmina, the
margravine of Bayreuth, came to Berlin for a visit shortly
after Voltaire's arrival, and Frederick spared no expense
or effort in entertaining his favorite sister, Voltaire
was delighted by the prospsct of plays, muslcals, dances,
and carnivals, On August 1, 1750, he wrote, “Nous aurons
dana quelques jours & Berlin un carouzel digne en tous
de celuy de Louis Ilh'i {Correspondense, -vole. 18, p. 109).

Voltaire took an active and honored part in the
celebration, His play, Rome sauvée, was produced with
royal actors, There was no language barrier for the
language of the Prussian court, as vwell as that of most
of the lesser German courts, was all PFPrench at this time,
On August 24, 1749, Voltaire wrote to madame Denis about
hia plays
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Nous nous preéparons & jouer Rome sauvée. Vous
ne vous douteriez pas gue nous frouvassions ici des
acteurs, Ce qui vous etonnera, e'est que le prince
Henri, rrere du rol, et la princesse Amelie, sa soesur,
recitent trés bien des vers, et .sans le moindre accent,
La langue qu'on parle le moins & la cour, o'est
ltallemand., Je nfen al pas encore sntendu prononcer
un mot (Correspondence, vol, 18, p. 131).

In such a round of festivities Voltal re was in his element,
His letters reflect his happiness and his congenial and
honored relations with the king, whom he represented as
Marcus Aurelius,

During this time, Frederick was trying to make
Voltaire a permanent member of his court, Already on
August 14, 1750, Voltaire had written to madame Denis,
telling her about the king's offer both to him and hers

Voici le fait, ma chére enfant. Le rol de Prusse
me fait son chambellan, me donne un de sos ordres,
vingt mille francs de pension, et i vous quatre mille
assures pour toute votre vie, si vous voules venir
tenir ma maison § Berlin, comme vous la tenez & Paris,
Vous aves bien vecu & Landau avec votre marij je vous
Jure gque Berlin vaut mieux que Landau, et qu'il y a
de meilleurs opera .... J'ai peu de temps & vivre,
Pout-stre est=11 plus doux de mouri r & sa mode
Potsdam que de la fagon d'um habitue de paroisse &
Paris (Correspondensse, vol, 18, p. 120),

This shows how pleased Voltalre was with his reeeption
at Berlin and that at this time he really wished to make
it his permanent home,

At the same time, both he and Prederick were trying
to get the pemission of Louls XV that would allow Voltaire
to accept Prederick's offer withous endangering the relations



between the two monarehs, Voltalre was trylng to obtain
the French king's permission to accept Frederick'!s offer
and at the same time retsln his position as a subjeet of
Louis XV, The permission was not long in coming., On
August 22, 1750, the Prench minister sent this shor$
letter in code to the comte Tyreonnell, the Frensh

ambasaador at Frederick's courts
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Vous apprendres que le rgi de Prusse a falt demander

Veltaire au rol, Sa majeste le lui a accgrde., Elle
& pense que cette complaisance serait agreable & ee
pringe, ot que si d'un cote elle laisait aller un
agademiocien que quelqu'uns ds ses ouvrages rendent
celebre 2lle n'avait d'ailleura rien & regretter dans
¢e sacrifice, Je doute fort qu'ia la longue le roi

de Prusse s'accormode du earacteére de monsieur de

Voltalre. Cesi pour vous ssul (Correspondence, vol, 18,

Pe 127),
From this it appesrs that Louls XV was quite as happy
to be rid of Voltaire as Prederick was to obtain him,
The French king had never appreciated Voltaire's genius,

but had often been offended by his satirs and thinly
veiled eriticisms,

On August 28, 1750, Voltalre wrote to his old
friend, Charles Augustin Feriols

Aujourdthul e'test le preglier homme de l'univers,
¢'est un philosophe gouronne qui m'enleve, Comment
voules=vous que Jo resiste eonment vouleg=vous gue
Jtoublie la maniere barbare dont j'al ete traite
dans mon pays?.eco, Pulseje regretter les cabales
d'un pays o Jlal ete sl maltraitet...o Jo comptais,
en partant, n'etre aupres du roi de Prusse que six
semaines, Je vols blen que je mourrai & sss pleds
(Correspondence, vol, 18, p. 135),
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This letter makes 1t clesr that Voltalre's recoption as
the Prussian ecurt had greatly sxeeeded his esxpeetations.
Part of his enchantment wes probably due to the festivitles,
Ir this same lutter Voltalre described a festival he had
Just attended, for which the grounds were lighted with
fortyesix thcusand glass lanterns and the avenues bordered
by three thousand armed and uniformed soldiers, With
sueh grandeur and a contimial whirl of feativities it
is little wonder that Voltaire wrote that “Prederie le
grand est plus grand que Louis XIV" (Correspondense,
vol, 18, p. 136) and that he considered himself happy
and fortunate to be a part of Frederiek's sourt,

During the first months of Voltaire's stay in
Berlin, most of his letters to his French fricnds and
relatives were filled with pralse for the Prussiean courd
and with answors to the many acocusations of desertion
that were coming to him, In a latter to madame Denis,
dated October 13, 1750, he wrotes

Il est plaisant quo les mémes gens de lettres

de Paris, qui auraient voulu m'oxtog§;nor. il y aun
an, erient actuellement contre mon elolgnement, ef

l'appellent desertion, Il semble qu'on solt faehe
d'avgi§ perdu sa vietime (Correspondence, vol. 18,
pPe 100),

Up to this time there is nc hint that Voltaire was at

all disappointed with Fraederick or his 1life at the eourt.
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During October of 1750 Louis XV deprived Voltaire
of his post as royal historiographer, In a letter Voltaire
wrote to madame Denis, he complained bitterly about his
removal and, at the samo time, expressed the view that
his absence from Pramce should not have hurt his ablility
to write a history of Franste but should rather have
increased 1t because he would be free to express the
truth without any danger of reprisals, He also wrote
that his duties for Frederick were very light, taking
only about an hour's time each day and that he was working
on his history of Louis XIV and ks times, In another
letter to madang-nonla on November 6, 1750, he wrote
that everything was wonderful st Potsdam, but that he
was homesick and that he would be leaving for a visit
to Paris definitely by the middle of December. His letters
to madame Denis were quite frequent at this time and
clearly indicate his longing for France.

He wrote madame Denis another letter on November 17,
1750, in which he relsted an inoident that must have
caused him some sad misgivings sbout Prederick's character
and should have revealed to him how two-fased his host
eould be and was, HNe wrote:!

. J'avais vu une lettre touchante, pathatigue, et
meme fort chretienne que le rol avait dsigne eerire
& d'Arget sur la mors de sa feume. J'al appris que
le mgme jour sa majests avait fait une epigramme contre

la defunte; cela ne laisse pas de donner & penser.



70

Noue sommes ici trois ou quatre 3trnngora commne des

moines dans une abbaye, Dieu veullls que le pere

abbe se contente de ss moquer de nous (Correspondense,

vole 18, pe 210)e
Such insincerity and lack of honeaty revealed to Voltalre
a lack of real feeling in the king.

At the same time Voltaire's conduct was far from

being above reproach in the notorious Hirschsl affair,
By the treaty of 1745 between Prussia and Saxony, eertain
Saxon bonds were to be honored in full when they were
held by Prussian eitisens, This led to speculation in
the bonds, By a decree of May, 1748, spesulation in
these bonds was otfiotly forbldden, Voltaire certainly
knew about this, The very secreey with which he acted
oortainly indieates that he knew such speculation was
forbidden, Nevertheless, the temptation tc make some
easy, even though dishones$, money was too great, He
turned over a large sum of money to a Jewish businessman
in Berlin, Abraham Hirschel, who was to buy the bonds
cheaply from nonePrussian eitisens and then sell them
for Voltaire., Hirschel gave Voltaire some joewels as
security, The deal fell through, and Voltaire wass foreed
to sue Hirschel to get his money back, The legal actions
that follewed dragged or through all the wintsr of 1750
and 1751, While Voltaire won the legal victory, he lost
the moral one, The king was very angry with Voltaire,
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and there can be no doubt that some words pasased between
the two sbout ths affair, However, no lotters either
by Voltaire or the king make any direet mention of anything
that the king might have said to Voltaire, But this
Hirschel affair marks the beginning of the rift between
the two men,

January 22, 1751, FPrederick wrote to his sister,
Wilhelmina, about the Hirschel affair with these words:
Vous me demandes ee que o'est que le proces de
Voltaire aves le julf, Clest 1'affalre d'un fripon
qul veut tromper um filou; 11 ntest pas permis qulun

hcemme de 1'esprit de Voltalire en fasse si indigne
abus (Comsganﬂomo. vol, 19’ Pe 29)0

The sult was settled early in Februsry and on February 12,
1751, Frederick wrote about it again to his sister,
After telling her that the suit was settled he added:s

Clost bien dommage que l'esprit infiue si peu,
sur les mos urs, et qu'un homme qui s'est repdu célebre
dans la ropubliquo des lettres soit gussi meprisable
pour son caractere, Voltaire, malgre son esprit,
est la fable de-la ville, 11 fait, Je ne sais eombien
d'incartades ot de ghoses ridicules gul servent
de-onnuyer les faineants de ecette capitale
(Correspondence, vol., 19, commentery, pp. 29-30).

Thess denunclations of Voltaire have tc be considered

in the light of Frederick's desire to influence his sister
against Voltaire., A close friendship had developed between
Voltaire and Frederiek'!s sister, Wilhelmina, and the two
were exehanging ecordial letters, Frederick, who was

greatly attached to his oldest sister, was jJealous of
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her intsrest in Voltaire. Put nowhere do we find anything
to tell us what actually passed between Frederick and
Voltaire,

Eerly in January, 1951, Voltaire had had a real
cause for feeling himself mistreated, He wrote to his
nieee, madame Denis, that his secretary, Tinols, had
secretly sold the manuseript of La Pucells to Henri,
the king's younger brother, "qui mourait d'envie dtavoir

Jeanne & sa possession" (Correspondence, vol. 19, p. 4).

Voltaire at once discharged Tinois, but 4id4 not seem to
feel too much reancor against Henri, This csn be partly
understood because Henri wes taking an active part in
many of Voltaire's plays that woic bsing produced during
this winter and seems to have been a fairly good amateur
actor,

Despite the diffisulties of the Hirschel affainr,
the theft of Le Pucelle, and Prederick's biting wit that
seemed to rankle Voltaire, the winter was really a happy
one, Voltaire was very busy with both public and private
productions of Ms plays; and, while his reputetion had
eortainly suffered from the Hirschel affair, thoe honors
hesped on him for hWis art more than made up for it, As
for his repested promise to visit Paris, he now wrote to
madame Denis that his extreme 111l hsalth, the rigors of



a Prussian winter, and the condition of the roads made
his trip to Paris impossible,

Throughout the year of 1751 the relations between
Frederick and Voltalre beoame more and more strained,
althougl. there was no open break, Voltsire was often
the vioctim of the king's eruel wit, barbs that Voltalre
had to swallow with the best greee possible,s Voltaire's
tongue was just as sharp as that of Frederiek, bus $he
latter was an absolute and powerful monmareh, Voltaire
sould only fight baek through his eritieisms of the king's
literary produstions, Here Voltaire oould use his biting
wit to ths fullest advantage, especially in his eriticisms
of Frederiek's Art de la guerre. Here it was the king's
turn to take Voltaire's biting eritieism with a forced
smile, |

Despit ¢ the growing tension between Voltaire and
Frederick, the year of 1751 was a happy and sucecessful
one for Voltaire, He published his Sieele de Louis XIV
with remarkable suceess., As with many of his works,
prirated coplesz appeared almost at once and Voltaire was
kept busy fighting and suppressing them, Voltaire always
sesmed to be happlest when he was very active, He also
published Mieroméges, and his Mahomet was revived with

marked success,

13



Desrite thelr growing entipathy and the elose
association that would meem to render letters unnecessury,
Voltaire and Frederiek 4i1d exchange numercus notes and
even letters during this period, Fone of these give any
hint of the growing discord, FNor, in general, 4id Voltaire
give free rein te his grievances to even his closest
friends in Paria, The resson for this could easlly lie
in the fact that, unless a letter was sent through &
special and trusted oarrier, it could easily be opened
and censored, His friends were becoming apprshensive
about Voltaire's continued stay at the Prussian eourt
and were urging him to leave. In a letter of August 6,
1751, the Comte A'Argental wrote to Voltaire:

Le Joy pour qui vous aves tout abandoné ne pouvoit
vous dgdomager de tant de sacrifices,... Vous etes
entoures 4dtennemis, d'envieux, de tracassiers, On
se dispute, on s'arrache e faveur, une confianece
que persorne ne possede veritablement., Clest une
eoquette qui pour eonserver plusieurs amants n'en
rend ausun heursux. ,Cette eour orageuse pleine de
toute sorte d'inconvenjents est espandant le seul
endroit od vous puissies vivre.... Vous dependes

des caprices d'un seul horme ot 6et homme est un
roy (Corresnondense, vol, 20, pp. 3=h).

This letter was ocarried by a special messenger., The eomte
d'Argental would not have risked such eriticism of royalty
in any letter that eould have been opsned, .

And yet Voltaire continued to remain at the Prussian
court., While there o6an be no doubt but that frietion
and hard feeling was growing between him and the king,
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nevertheless Voltaire 41d scer to be¢ cuite harpy. Cne
reason wes thnt he was busy, Another was that he had
Tformed some very congenlal friendships, The kingts brother,
Fenri, and hias sister, AmSlie, vho wsre both at the eourt,
were pleasant and agreeable friendes, Voltalre carried
on an extenzive correspondence with Wilhelmina, Baeside
this he had formed & warm and olose friendship with the
countess Rentine¥, He acted as her legal adviser and
helped her in her many law suits, a figld in which Veltalre
was always at his best, Voltaire's close friendship with
both Wilhelmina arnd the countess Berntinck irritated the
king., The only cause for this was his own possessive
and selfiesh natures, The king was jealous of Voltaire,

He was truly very attached to wWilhelmina and hated to
see Voltaire share in hof affection, There was ro logioal
reason for his jealousy sbout the zountess Bentinek,.

During the yeer of 1752 the frietion between Voltaire
and the king was augmented by frieticn between Voltaire
and Maupertuis, a Freneh mathematician whe was a resident
at Frederiek?!s court, Maupertuls was no doubt a scholar
of considerable ability, but he had a disagreeable disposi-
tion, whieh was very Srritating to Voltaire, In general,
the king took the side of Maupertuis, possibly for no
reason except his growing dlssatisfaetion with Voltaire,
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Voltaire was preparing for his departure although
no open break had eome between him and the king. He had
brought eonsiderable funds with him to Berlin, To take
thess out of the eountry presented some difficulties.
He settled the matter by bBuying an annuity from the duke
of Wirttemburg, secured by some properties that the duke
held in Franse., The transaction, while it appeared
satisfactory at the time, caused Voltalire oonsiderabdle
difficulty in the future for the duke was not at all
prompt or regular in paying the annuity,
Voltaire also started two important literary ventures
during the fall of 1752, The first one was the Dietionnaire
hi losophique, whieh later became one of his outstanding
works. The other one hgd very 1little literary importance,
but had farereaching influense in bringing about the final
rupture between Voltaire and the king., Maupertuls and
K8nig, also a scientist in Frederiek's court, had been
quarreling about the authentieity of eertain letters of
the philesopher, Leibnits, Voltalre saw the opportunity
to write something biting and clever and eould not forege
the temptation, although he must have known $hat it would
cause troubles The result was the Diatribe du dooteur
Akakia, a witty, biting satire directed at Maupertuis,
Before the stom over this satire broke, Voltaire
had already taken more and more liberty in his oriticism
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of Frederiok's verse, Some time in November of 1752
(the letter oarries no date), the king replied to too
oaustio eriticism with these words:
C'est pourquoi en me rendant justice, & en avouant
ue meg vers sont mal faits, ma raison est asses
eclalree pour me faire admirer les vdtres (Correspondence,
vol, 21, p. 132).
In this the king showed eormendable moderation, It was
different with the satire,
The Diatribe du dooteur Akakia was made publie
in the last days of Novembsr er early in Deoember, for
Prederick wrote to Voltaire December 5, 17523
Votre Efronterie M'étone, aprés ee que Vous venes
de falre et qui est Glair Come le Jour vous persistes
au lieu de Vous gvouer Coupable. Ne Vous Imagines
pas que vous feres Oroire que le Noir est dlang,
quand on ne Volt pas, e',lt quton ne Veut pas tout
Voir, mais gi Vous pousses Liaffaire & dout je fgrai
tout Imprimer et L'on Vera que sl Vos ouvrages Meritent
qy'on vous Erige des statues votre Conduite Vous

moriza§iit des Chaines (Correspondence, vol, 21,
Pe ™

This letter is notable not only for the angser 1t diaplayed,
but aliso for the strange use of oapitals, Most of
Froderiek's letters to Voltalire were written with great
oare, but this one appears to have been written not only
in great haste and anger, but probably by hls own hand,

The same day Voltaire wrote an answer in shich he
used his 0l1d excuse of 1llness for not making a psrsonal

appearante, He wrote:
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Ah ron dieu sire dans 1'8tat ol Je suisl Je vous
jure enocor sur ma vie a la quelle je renonce sans
peine que otest une celomnie affreuse, Je vous conjure
de faire eonfronter tous mes gens, Quoyl vous me
Jugeriez sans entendrel Je demande justiocs, et la
mort (Correspondence, vol. 21, p. 165).

Despite this reply, Voltaire allowed coples of the satire
to be printed and distributed, The king had all copies
that eame into his hands destroyed and yet, by the middile
of Degember, the satire wes in general distribution in
Berlin,
The king probably did not know how ineffective
his suppreasion of the Diatribe had been for on December 10,
1752, he wrote to Naupertuis:
Ne vous embarrasses de rien, mon eher Maypsrtuis,
1taffaire des libelles ezt finijg, J'a& parle si vray
& 1'home, jJe lui ai si fort lave la téte que je ne
erois pas qu'il y retourne, et Je connais son &me
lache, incepable de sentiments d'honneur; Je lley
intimide du eSte de 1la boursse ce qui & faig tout
l1tefet que j'en atendais, Je luli ai declare enfin
nettement que nmA maisson dovait etre un sanetuaire
ot non une retraite de brigands ou de cellerats
distillent des poissons (Correspondence, vol. 21,
P. 168).
This was not quite the end of the controversy, On
December 26, 1752, the Diatribe du dosteur Akakia was
publiely burned by the order of the king,
Voltaire had now definitely made up his mind to
leave, On December 18, 1752, he wrote to madame Denis
giving full vent to all the grievances he had sufrfered

from the king, In this letter he wrote!



Jo vale me.raire. pour won instruction, un »netit
dietionnaire & 1'usage des rols,

Mon ami signifie mon es¢lave,

Mon cher ami veut dire vous m'Stes plus gqu'indifferent.

Entendez par je vous rendral heureux, je vous

souffriral tant que J'aur esoln ds vous,

Soupes avae moil ce soir, signifie je me moquerai
de Vous ee solr,

Tout 0s que j'al vu esteil possible] Dire & un
homme les choses les plus tandres, et eorire contre
lul des broohurest! et quelles brochures! arracher

un homme & sa patrie par les promesses les plus sacrees,

ot lo maltraiter avec la malics la plus noire! que
de contrastes]! et o0'est 1li 1l'homme qui mteorivait
tant de choses philosophiques, et que j'al oru
philosophel et je 1'al appele le Salomon du nordl
(Corres-ondense, vol, 21, p. 180),

SISO oW
All this shows that Voltaire was thoroughly disillusionsd
with the king and bitterly disappointsd by his stay at
the Prussian sourt, .
On January 1, 1753, Voltaire wrots to the king
and asked permission to leave, With this letter he
returned ths key, that was a symbol of his office, and
a ocross, & badge of honor that Frederick had given him,
Voltaire gave his failing health and family ties as his
reasons for wanting to leave, Hs began the letter with
these linesas
Pressé par les sollicitations et par les larmes
de ma famille, Je me vols oblige de mettre a vos
pieds mon sort et les dienfaits et les distingtions

don$ vous m'aves honore., Ma resignation est egale
& ma douleur (Correspondense, vols 22, Pe 1l)e



Voltalre made it appear that the parting was painful to
hin, What seema strange is that he wrote another letter
the sarie duy, It wasz, in the main, a repstition of the
first,

The king returned both the badge and the key and
wiote Voltalre a cordial letter in which heo expressed
his desire to ksep Voltaire at his court, This letter
has never been found, but numerous refersnces wsre made
aboat 1t by Voltai re, He referred to it in a letter he
wrots to madame Denis on January 13, 1753. He wrotes

I1 m'a eorit qu'il aimsit mieux vivre aves moi

qu'avaee Maupertuis, OCe qui eat bien certain, elest
que J3 ne veux vivre nl avae l'un ni avse ltautre

v o« o o+ Jo veux partir absolument (Correspondenss,
vol. 22. De 21).

In the same letter ho wrote ahout his falling health
and said ho ocould no longsr sndure ths crusl and dangerous
nerthern elimate,

On March 15, 1753, Frederick at length gavs his
written consent for Voltalre's departure, He wrote:

,I1 n'etait pas nsesssairs que vous prissies le
pretexte du besoin que vous me dites avoir, des eaux
de Plombleres, pour me demander votre oonge., VYous
pouves quitter mon serviee quand vous vowdres; mals
avant de partir, faltes mol remettre le contrat de
vo{re engagement, la clef, 1lg eroix, st la volume de
poesies que je vous al gonfie. Je sguhaiterais que
mes ouvrages cusssnt ste Seuls oxposes & vos traits
ot oeux de Kinig, Je les saorifig de bon ooeur &
eeux qui eroient augmenter leur reputation sn dininuant
6elle des autres, Jo ntai ni la folie ni la vanite
de eertains auteurs (Gorrespondenss, vol., 22, p. 106).
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In this letter Frederiock's tone was no longer friemdly.
From this letter it appears that the break was final,
but in a later letter Voltaire indicated that he was
returning to Berlin in Octobere. The key, oross, and the
book of poems are important. Voltaire did not return
them, and this gave Frederick his excuse for later arresting
Voltaire,

On the same date Frederick wrote to his sister,
Wilhelmine, about Voltaire's departure with these words:

Jo laissé partir Voltaire sans regret, e'est un

fou méehant qui n'est bon qu'd lire, Vous ne sgauries
eroire toutes les fourberies ot les tracasseries
qu'il a fait ley (Correspondence, textual notes,
vol, 22, p. 107)e
I¢ certainli was not true that Frederick did not regret
Voltaire's departure., He must have regretted it, if
only for the selfish reasons of the loss of prestige
and the loss of an excellent eritiec of his ewn literary
works,

The reason Voltaire 4id not return the requested
key, oross, and book of poems probably lies in this extract
of a letter he wrote to madame Denis on Mareh 15, 1753,
the same day that Prederieck gave his permission to leave,
This letter seems to have bdeen written before Voltaire
had recelved his letter from Frederieck, He wrotes

J'al oo pays=ci en horreurj mon paquet est tout

fait, J'ai enyoye tous mes effets hors du Brandenbourg;

11 ne reste guere que ma personne (Correspondente,
vol, 22. Pe 108).
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e probably 4id not wish to let the king know that he
had alreedy sent most of his effecte out of the country
aven before he had recelved the king's consent to leave.
The requested artieles had already been sent awsy, He
eould not return them unless he delayed his departure
wntil he eculd have them reealled, This Voltaire certainly
414 not want to do. HNe left Berlin on March 25, just
ten days after he had received the king!s pemissicn to
goe, Put from then on Volteire appears not to have been
in any hurry, He traveled by 2low and easy stages, first
to Leipsig, then stopped at Gotha and Cassel, and arrived
in FPrankfort on May 29, a little more than two monthe
after he left Berlin.

Frederick's letters of this time show thet he was
really angry with Voltaire. On April 12, 1753, he wrote
to his siater, Wilhelmina:

Vgus me demandesz des nouvelles de Voltairg; volel
la verite de son histoirg. Il s'est comporte iei
oomme l¢ plus grand seelerat de l'univers, Il a
eommence par vouloir brouiller tout le monde par des
mensonges et des calomnies infémes, dont 11 ne rougit
PRScece J'al eu ma part de cette affaire, et j'ai
ote asses bon que le laisser partir, A present 11
o8t a Leipsig, ou 11 distille de nouveaux poisons,
ot ol 11 se dit malade pour corriger un ouvrage terrible
qu'il compose. Vous voyes dons que, loin de vouloir
Jamais ravolr oe malheureux, 11 ne sfagit que de
rompre entierement avee lui, 81 vous me pormottzl
done 4e vous dire librement mon sentiment, ma chere
soeur, je ne serais pas féche qu'il allét & Baireuth;
oar, si vous y eonsentes, 'y enverrais quelqu'un

pour lul redemander la elef et la orolx qu'il a gnoore,
ot surtout une edition de mes vers qu'il a envoyee
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d@ Franckfortesur-le=Main, et que je ne veux absolument
pas lul laisser, vu le mauvais usage qu'il est ocapable
d'en faire (Correspondence, vol, 22, prn. 128«129),

This letter indicates that Frederiek was really oonosrned
about the key, eross, and above all the book of verses.
While traveling, Voltalre wrote Frederiok a fairly
oordlal lsestter on April 28, 1753, which says: "Je
reviendral au mois d'octobre & vos pileds”™ (Correspondence,
vol, 22, p. 143)s This indicated that for Voltairs at
least the break was not final, or that he wished it to
appear that way to the king,
Voltelire arrived in Frankfort on May 31, 1753,
On June lj, he wrote to his 0ld friend, D'Argental, In
this letter he eomplained as usual of his many maladies,
but made no mention of any arrest. He wrotet
Je suis arrive aves Jdes jambes ot les mains enflees,
Cette petite addition & mes maux m'accomode point
on volage. Je resteray & Pranckfort dans mon 1t
::nt ?:11 plaira & dieun (Correspondensce, vol. 22,
This does not indieate that he had been arrested, Yet
on the ﬂoxt-day he wrote to the emveror, Franeis I, to
eomplain about his arrest, and said that he had been
arrested on June 1, He wrote of Freytag, Frederiok's
agentt
Il me révond qu'il va faire met{re une garde a
ma porte, il me forece & signer un eorit par le quel
Jo promets de ne point sortir Jasqu'a se que les

foonioa du Roy son muftre soient revenues
Corresvondense, vol. 22, p. 187).
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This leaves the gotunl date of his arrest not quite olear.
But some time late in May, Frederigk ssnt his envoy,
Preytag, to Frankfort and, with the assistanos of the
FPrankfort Counnil, managed to put Voltalre under arrest,
FPrenkfort was, at this time, a free ¢ity and in no way
under the ceontrol of the Prusalan king, Freytag eould
not have acted withont ths assent of the Freankfort
authorition,

Nor 1s there any legloal explanation why Frederick
waited so long to have Voltalre arrested., He had auple
opportunity to arreat him as he left Berlin and had he
done so, he would geartainly have hoen in his legul right.
Frederiek kﬁow that the articlea he had asked for had
not bsen returned, He oertainly also knaw Jjust when
Voltaire loft the elty, Why he 4ld not arrest him ¢hen,
but instsnd wal%ad for two months, and than had him
arrastad ‘n a free oclty has never boean exnlalnsd,

At first 1t seemed that Voltalrs 41d not suffer
any groeat indignity by his arrest, Hs remalnad at his
hotel, was ﬁndar rsuard, and was not allowad to laava,
When madeame Denis arrivoed nn June 11, 1747, she too was
plaged undar house arresat, Both Voltalre and she at
onee bagan writing a great many letters in their efforts
%0 ragain thelr frsedom; and, at the same $ime, Voltaire
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sent for the book of poems that he had sent ahead with
other baggage,
| The letters that they wrote at this time are often
very repstitious and are filled with sad accounts of the
brutal treatment they were receiving fram the hands of
the Frankfort soldiers, How badly they were being treated
is uncertain, At first, at least, they were only under
house arrest and did not suffer any real indignity and
eruelty. However, Voltaire wrote that madame Denis was
80 111 from the inhuman treatment that she was in eon-
vulsions for thirtyesix hours., She, in turn, spoke of
him as “presque mourant® (Correspondense, vol, 22, p. 203),
On the day of her arrival she wrote to Frederiok,
requesting him to reseind the order of Voltaire's arrest.
She wrote: .
Jlarrive iey pour conduire Mon Onsle aux eaux de
Plombleres, Je le trouve mourant, et pour eomble

de maux 11 est arrete par les Ordres de votre magests
dans une odberge sans pouvolir respirer lfair

(Correspondense, vel, 22, p. 205),
At this time he was osrtainly only under house arrest,

On June 21, 1753, she again wrote to the king and implored
him to release her uncle, 3he told him that the box

with the bdook of poetry had arrived and that the book

had bdeen sent on to him, The next day, June 22, she
wrote again and told the king that both she and Voltaire
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had been treated with extreme indignity and cruelty by
the Frankfort soldiers.
By June 26, 1753, Frederick must have received
these letters., He wrote to Freyteg:

J'al recu une lettre de la niece de Voltalre,
que Je n'al pas trop comprise, Elle se plaint que
yous l'avez falt enlever & son auberge, et conduire
& pled avec des coldatg qui 1l%escortolent. Je ne
vous avois rien ordonne tout cela.... Je voulols
que Voltalre vous remit la elef, la eroix et 1la
volume de poesies ,aye jJe lul avois confie, Des que
tout cels vous a ete remls, Je ne vols pas de ralson
qui ait pu vous engsger & rniro ce coup d'eclat,
Rendes leur donc la liberts dés ma lettre receue
(Correspondence, vol, 22, pp. 265=266).

From all the evidence found either in their letters or
in those written by others at this time 1t 1s not certaln
whether they were only under house arrest, or whether
they had really been insulted and eruelly mistreated,

Nor is there any reasonable explanation why they were

not released so soon as the above letter fram Frederiek
reached Freytage. They were first releamsed on July 7,

at least a full week after his letter muat have reached
Frankfort,.

Voltalre went at once to Maing and then on to
Strasbourg, Here he spent all the summer instead of
going to Plombieres, Madame Denis returned to Paris,
Despite his 111noaa-and feeble health Voltaire plunged
into an active round of letter writing. In all of these
he described his 111 treatment at Frederick's hands and



87
did everything possible to diseredit Frederick. Frem
these lettars it scemed that he was completely dise
11lusioned with the king and wanted no further intercourse
with him,.

And yet this i3 not true., At the same time that
he was heaping ealumnias upon Frederiek!s head he wrote
to Wilhelmina and tried to persuade her to intercede
with the king on his behalf, He wrote from Strasbourg
on September 22, 1753

Pour moy, madame, quel est mon stat. Je suls

vieux et infipme, j'avais sacrifie aujy roy les
dernieres annees de ma vio, je n'ay veeu que pour
Juy seul pgndant trois amnees. Tout mon temps a
ote partgge entre luy et le travail, J'ay tout
abandonne pour jJui. Il le salit. . . Le rgy votre
frere aima la veritadble gloire et 11 la merite.
Il vous aime, 1l doi¢t vous eroire, Hadago. 11
staglit de signaler la grandeur de votre ame ot de
toucher la sienne. Faltes tout oe qu'il vous plaira,
Je me mets entieresment entre vos mains respeotables, . .
o Clest votre emur qutil faut esouter, GClest au
sos ur seul de Roy que vous parleres (Correspondemce,
VO]_.. 22. PP 193-9“).
This indigeates that Voltaire did not want the break to
be final, But Frederick was different., He refused to
have any further intereourse with Voltaire,

They parted as enemies, For years they had no
further intercourse together, Both were busy with other
pursuits, After the elose of the Seven Years'! VWaw in
1763 they 4id exchange a few letters, but they were net

on a friendly or cordial basis,



CHAPTER VI
CONCLUSION

With Voltaire'!s departure from Berlin in the summer
of 1753 the friendship between the two greatest men ef
the eighteenth century was at an end, The two had mueh
in eommon, They were almost oertainly the two greatest
mental glants of their age. Both were very intelligent}
both were liberal in their thinking, Voltaire may at
times have been servile in his sctions for personal gain
or for his own safety, but he was never servile 1n his
thinking, In their beliefs, in thsir attitude toward
estadblished religion, and in thelr outlook and phlilosophy
of life they had muoh in eommon, They vwere alse both
ardent lovers of literature, poetry, and drams,

With so mueh in ocommon it is not surprising that
the two should bhave attraeted each other, Their sommon
interests, and the admiration sach held for the other's
intelleot was enough to draw them together., Yet, beside
the natural affinity that draws great minds together,
oaoh had an ulterior motive in his friendship with the
other, nor ean these ulterior and selfish motives alvways
be roadily»lopnrutod from their natural admiration and

fondness for each other,
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Voltaire had always felt a little ohesated by his
bourgeols background and had an esteem for royalty that
13 not quite understandable today, But this was still
the day of absolute monarchs in much of Europe, and Voltaire
had grown up under the most royal of all French kings,
Louis XIV, Despite the fact that Voltaire could and
did oeritieize absolute monarchy as it was practiced in
Europe, he still felt a great deal of respsoct for royalty.
His own king, Louis XV, had largely rejected him, Frederick
was one of the most important monsrchs in Burope, And
since it was the eustom at this time for a man of letters
to attach himself toc a royal patron, for selfish reasons
alone, it was natural for Voltalire to seek the patronage
of the Prussian court. Beside this, Frederick was a
king who had a natural appeal to Voltaire. Certainly,
in the beginning of their friendship, Voltaire actually
had hope that Frederick would turn out to be the kind
of king he had envisioned: educated, liberal and bent
on the furthering not only of the arts but of truly
demoeratic principles,

Frederiok's reasons for wanting to attach Voltaire
to his court are also quite matural, Voltaire was the
most important man of letters in France at this time,
Frederiok did adnwire his writing, and he recognized Voltalire's

genius, something Louis XV never did, Frederiek's court
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was almost wholly French. It was only natural that he
tried to bring the greatest Frensh wri ter to his ecourt,
if only rpr-hil own glory and prestige;, Beslide that
Frederick was really ambitious to achieve something really
great in French literature, He certainly overrated s
ability as a poet snd writer, He recognized the purity
of-Voltaire's style and was eager to have him as a teacher
in volishing his own verses,

While there was much to draw them together, the
very same tralts of personality that drew them together
worked to separate them, Both were far too independent
to get along together well, Voltaire's wit was mischievous
and sometimes very malicious, Frederick's was cruel and
biting, In their exchange of verbal barbs, Voltalire was
at a disadvantage, for he was only an honored guest of an
absolute monarch. In their relations during Voltaire's
stay at Frederick's court, both were at fault, Voltalre
was certainly at feult in the Hirschel affair and again
in his publication of the Diatribe du docteur Akkakia,

On the other hand, Prederick!s oruel wit, coming, as 1t
did, from a superior, rmst have been very galling teo
Voltaire!s independent spirit, Frederick's big mistake
was his arrest of Voltaire, In this we see Frederick

at his worst,



For Voltalire, the break was fortunate, When he
left Berlin, he still had & quarter of a century to live,
Those years were the most influential of his 1life,
Voltaire would never have held the honored place and
prostige in the literary and political world of Europe
that he held as the Squire of Ferney, 1f he had lived
those years in the shadow of the dominant figure of
Frederick the Great, aven though the rela lons between
the two men had been amicable, It was fortunate both
for Voltaire and for European thought and development
that Voltalre =nd Frederick broke their ciose friendship
when they did, Voltaire certainly was greater for the
break,

For Frederick the bresk was not so fortunate.

If he could have ksept Voltalre at his court for those

twenty-five yesrs, he certainly would have derived
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rleasure, honor, and Erestige from the contact, Voltaire's

infiuence might even have had a softening effect on
Frederick,

While the two men had much in common thelr influence

on the nineteenth and even the twentieth century was
certainly different, Voltalre'as influence can bs felt
even today in the ssarching out and destruction of false
idols and in the fight for universal truth, justice,and
liberty. Frederick's influence can best be seen in the



developmsnt of the Prussian state with 1ts efficlency

and militarism and 1ts utter disregard for the individual
sxcept as sn instrument of the state, Frederick's
influsnce can bas tracsd in the later development of
Prussia, in the crsation of the German Empire with its
Prussisn stamp in 1871, in the armms race that followed,
in the war of 1914, snd ths militarism of ths Hitler

régimo.

(;2
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